





04/26/11=6,337 
06/13/11=29,264




04/26/11=6,863 
06/14/11=29,858




04/27/11=7,427
06/15/11=30,370




04/28/11=7,955
06/17/11=30,935




04/29/11=8,455
06/18/11=31,485




04/30/11=9,069
06/20/11=31,985




05/01/11=9,589
06/21/11=32,513




05/02/11=10,100
06/22/11=33,046




05/03/11=10,652
06/23/11=33,570




05/04/11=11,188
06/26/11=34,110




05/05/11=11,705
06/27/11=34,619




05/06/11=12,302
07/04/11=35,136




05/07/11=12,823
07/05/11=35,661




05/08/11=13,345
07/06/11=36,162




05/09/11=13,853
07/07/11=36,617




05/10/11=14,424
07/08/11=37,122




05/11/11=15,011
07/09/11=37,650




05/12/11=15,627
07/10/11=38,177




05/13/11=16,229
07/11/11=38,678




05/14/11=16,786
07/12/11=39,233




05/15/11=17,341
07/13/11=39,757




05/16/11=17,878
07/14/11=40,306




05/17/11=18,387
07/15/11=40,823




05/18/11=18,904
07/16/11=41,404




05/19/11=19,388
07/17/11=41,948




05/20/11=20,061
07/18/11=42,494




05/21/11=20,593
07/19/11=43,060




05/22/11=21,149
07/20/11=43,592




05/23/11=21,670
07/26/11=44,076




05/24/11=22,216
07/28/11=44,595




05/28/11=22,454
07/29/11=44,933




05/31/11=22,960
07/30/11=45,406




06/01/11=23,490
08/02/11=45,915




06/02/11=24,000
08/23/11=36,901




06/04/11=24,527





06/05/11=25,027





06/06/11=25,607





06/07/11=26,113





06/07/11=26,650





06/09/11=27,145





06/10/11=27,666





06/11/11=28,172





06/12/11=28,758
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Maggie

Friday, January 7, 2011
Maggie put the burgundy Escape in reverse and backed out of the gravel driveway, taking care to stay away from the trees and bushes that lined the driveway and road at their A-frame. She’d been out for a run when her pager had gone off, its shriek catching her by surprise. She’d taken her cell phone from its case hooked to the waistband of her jeans and called the office. Her boss, Tessa Daniels, apologized but asked if it would be possible for her to come in right away, despite the fact that it was her day off. Maggie had readily agreed. Being on-call was a standard part of the job. 

She’d showered and dressed in record time, anxious not to keep the client waiting too long. While she was drying her hair, she decided she’d better call her husband Jackson to let him know that she probably wouldn’t be there when he got home.

“Jackson Bell.” Maggie grinned at the sound of Jackson’s voice as he answered his office phone, a land line without caller ID.

“Hi, hon, it’s me, Mrs. Bell,” Maggie said.

“Hi, babe. What’s up?” he asked.

“Me, I guess. I have to go into work unexpectedly. I was out running when Tessa paged me. We got a new client and I’m next up on the roster.”

There was a silence on the other end of the line, and Maggie knew what Jackson was thinking but knew he wouldn’t say anything. He respected her commitment to her job too much to protest its sometime unfairness.

“I know,” Maggie sighed in response. “But it is what it is. Listen, I wanted to let you know there’s some soup in the crock-pot so you’ll have something for dinner. I’m not sure how long this will take but I’ll call you when I’m on my way home.”

Jackson said "How are the kids?"

Maggie felt a brief twinge of pain at the words, wishing they really did have children, in addition to what they lovingly called their “kids” -- their dog Samson and cat Tinker.  She answered in a light tone, deftly covering the sadness his words had inadvertenly caused, "They're good. Samson went for a run with me, while Tinker sat in the front window watching our foolishness and grooming herself, as any good cat would do."

They hung up and Maggie concentrated on getting onto the highway. She wasn’t a fan of driving while talking on the phone. In fact, she’d been known to lay her cell phone in her lap when maneuvering a tricky lane change.

She pictured Jackson at his desk in the main newsroom of the Rivermont Times. There would be piles and stacks of papers and books and newspapers everywhere. She often teasingly criticized him about its untidiness but he just shrugged off her loving jibes. This was the way he worked and that was that. 

Jackson Bell was the star columnist of Rivermont’s daily newspaper and had been for more than five years. He’d started at the paper right out of college as an intern and gradually moved up the ranks, through copy boy, obits and then as a police reporter. His success there had led to the offer of a thrice-weekly column, an opportunity that Jackson thought was his dream job.

His wry sense of humor and deep compassion for the less fortunate and / or the clueless attracted readers of discernment.. Of course, his irreverence often raised hackles so he walked the fine line of entertaining while not offending. At one point in time, two disgruntled targets of his columns sued the newspaper. The paper had settled out of court but had added a disclaimer at the end of each of Jackson’s columns stating that the opinions expressed were those of the columnist and didn’t necessarily represent the views of the Rivermont Times. CYA, had been Jackson’s response.

Maggie and Jackson were fortunate to have careers they were passionate about. She'd worked with so many people who were just counting the minutes till retirement. Or who were never satisfied with their jobs and always on the lookout for something better. Two of the men she worked with now were inveterate job hunters who abused the city government's sick leave policy and called in sick on a regular basis when they had job interviews scheduled.

For the past two years Maggie had worked as a victim advocate for the city of Rivermont. She was heading toward their downtown office, twenty minutes away from their second home in the wooded enclave of Edelweiss. For the past five years, Maggie and Jackson had split their time between a downtown loft condominium and an A-frame in the gated community on the outskirts of Rivermont. The city was located on the Mississippi River, an hour's drive from St. Louis. They now regularly spent most of their time at the A-frame, with the loft serving as a convenient way station during winter snowstorms or when one or both of them had to work late.

VAC, or the Victim Advocate Center, where Maggie worked was located in a converted carriage house near the riverfront in downtown Rivermont. The building had an old world charm that was an anomaly in city government buildings. A former mayor of Rivermont had donated the building to the city, along with the funding to cover renovations. The former mayor was wealthy enough in her own right that she had no need for the building and the money that had been left to her as part of her mother's estate.

Maggie parked the Escape on the lot adjacent to VAC and made her way into the building through the back entrance. She used her employee badge to open the door, grinning as she always did at the Bell Security logo adorning the security system. Bell Security was her father-in-law's mega-successful firm, located two blocks away in a sleek new standalone building that Lawrence Bell built five years ago. Prior to that, he'd leased space in a nearby high-rise but had wanted his own facility so that he could expand as desired or as necessary.

Only one other car had been on the parking lot, Tessa Daniels' sleek red Corvette convertible, the envy of her employees. Tessa was the director of VAC and had a staff of three victim advocates, a research assistant, an administrative assistant and a receptionist. Evidently the rest of the staff had left early on this Friday afternoon in January, leaving Tessa to handle things. The victim advocates, Tessa, Maggie, Clint and Patrick, rotated responsibility for taking on new victims, and Maggie assumed she had been next on the list. Of course, with Clint's and Patrick's lack of work ethic, it was entirely possible they'd ducked out on their responsibilities, leaving it to Maggie to fill in for them. It had happened often enough in the past and would certainly continue to happen in the future.
Maggie's office was on the second floor of the carriage house, as was Tessa's. A large, open conference room with walls of windows separated Maggie's office from Tessa's.  Clint and Patrick were on the main level of the building, along with the other staff members.

The building had a creaky old elevator that no one ever used but which was a city code requirement, as was the wheelchair ramp leading into the main entrance. Maggie took the stairs and headed toward Tessa's office to get the details of her assignment.
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Jackson
Friday, January 7, 2011

Jackson grinned as he hung up the phone. Maggie was the love of his life, and he thanked his lucky stars every day that things had finally worked out for them. His mind started to wander down the path of regrets over past mistakes, and he quickly headed it in another direction. 

Before Maggie's call, he'd been talking with one of his co-workers, Paul Washington. Paul was one of top crime reporters at the paper, and he and Jackson often shared tips and ideas. Paul was a towering black man, broad shouldered and fit. His size had a tendency to intimidate the people he interviewed and that intimidation seemed make them say more to him than they'd intended.

Jackson got and walked over to Paul's desk and sat in the chair next to the desk and said, "So what's this story you were telling me about before Maggie called."

"Sort of a mystery," Paul answered, "just the way I like them. It seems there's a seriously injured man and a lady with a gun. She claims he was trying to kill her. They struggled over the gun, it went off, and when all was said and done, the guy was almost done. He’s in Rivermont Memorial in a coma. She's saying it was self-defense. The detective isn't so sure. I'll follow up with him later before I submit the story to see if he has any more details to give me. The really interesting thing is that she's some kind of high-society type. Say, you might know who she is, you being part of that high-society thing."

Jackson groaned and shook his head at Paul. Paul took great delight in razzing Jackson about what Paul called his snazzy background. Jackson took the digs with a grain of salt, knowing Paul meant it in fun.

"Okay, I'll bite. What's her name?"

Paul looked down at the notes scribbled on a small notepad in the center of his desk. "Hmmm, last name's Crowell, first name's Betheny, with an e."

"Son of a gun!" Jackson exclaimed. "I don't believe it but I do know her. Our parents have been friends for years. They live in the same neighborhood as my mom and dad. I'll be darned." Jackson sat there thinking about what he knew about Betheny.

"I don't know her well. We didn't go to the same schools or travel in the same circle of friends. She really is one of those society types, and I never was. My parents were just wonderful middle-class people who made a fortune with Dad's security firm. They were never society, just rich."

Paul grunted in response and picked up his notes again. “Here’s an interesting tidbit I picked up from the Web. This isn’t Betheny Crowell’s first brush with the law. Two years ago, her fiancé died in a swimming accident. Once again, Ms. Betheny was the only one on-site.”

“Hmmm. She sounds a bit like a black widow type,” Jackson said. “I think I’ll give my Dad a call and see what he knows.” Jackson went back to his desk and punched in his Dad’s cell number on the desk phone. As he expected, the call went straight to Lawrence Bell’s voice mail. Jackson was seldom able to reach his father on his first call, but Lawrence was meticulous about immediately returning calls.

“Hey, Dad, it’s Jackson. Give me a call on my cell when you have a sec. I just heard about Betheny Crowell, and I wondered if you had any scoop. Talk to you soon.”

Jackson hung up and turned to his laptop, Googling Betheny Crowell. He was surprised at the large number of results that came back. Methodically, he went down the first page of links. This lady had been all over the news the past few years. He wondered how he could have missed the articles.  The majority of the links led to news items about the death of her fiancé, and more than a few of them focused on the inconsistencies surrounding his death. Jackson printed out a couple of the articles and walked back over to Paul’s desk.

“This lady is a piece of work,” he said, waving the articles at Paul.

“That’s what I thought, too,” Paul answered.

“I think we should follow up on this,” Jackson said, again waving the articles in Paul’s direction.

“What do you mean, we, paleface?”

Jackson laughed and shook his head, “What a pathetic sense of humor you have, kimo sabe.”

“So you want to do a column on this?” Paul asked.

“I’m not sure, yet. Let’s do some digging and see what we find.” Jackson went back to his desk and began making phone calls. Paul also picked up the phone and called the detective he’d interviewed earlier in the day. 

Half an hour later, Paul came over to Jackson’s desk and sat down in the visitor’s chair. He held his notepad in one hand and his laptop in the other.

“I talked with that Rivermont PD detective again -- Matt Walker is his name.” Paul looked down at the notepad and began reading.
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Maggie

Friday, January 7, 2011

The door to Tessa’s office was ajar, and as Maggie tapped lightly, it swung open. Tessa was on the phone, pacing back and forth across the length of the office. She spotted Maggie and gestured her inside. Maggie flashed her a smile and a nod, and walked over to the two leather high-backed chairs in front of Tessa’s massive mahogany desk and sat down in the closest of the chairs. 

She tried not to eavesdrop on Tessa’s phone conversation but it was pretty much impossible not to. Her boss was talking to her husband Mark, a kindergarten teacher in one of the Catholic elementary schools in the suburbs. Mark and Tessa were both in their mid-forties and were the proud parents of five-year old twins, a boy and a girl. According to their boastful parents, the twins were the next thing to the second coming. 

Tessa had been the founder of the VAC. For years, she’d served as a forensic psychologist for the city of Rivermont government. Sometimes, as a peripheral part of her duties, it had fallen to her to provide various kinds of support to victims of crimes. Based on that, she’d become interested in victim support and had done research to see what was going on in the field. To her surprise, she discovered that victim advocacy was a full-blown profession. She also discovered that Rivermont was woefully behind the times in providing support for victims. After writing several white papers on the topic and presenting her findings to the mayor and the city council, she received permission from them to apply for a Federal grant for funding the creation of a victim advocacy center. 

After pushing through several applications, Tessa had finally received a small grant that would support only her salary as the first of the victim advocates. She’d found a vacant corner in the city administration building and had commandeered a rickety old desk to fill the corner. That had been 10 years ago, and since then, she’d applied for and received additional state and Federal grant money. Her project had received sufficient positive press that it had led the city council to officially fund the project, although after five years, it had still only funded Tessa’s salary. 

Then, the former mayor of Rivermont, a woman who’d been a strong supporter of Tessa’s work, had contributed to the project. She turned over a building, a former carriage house, along with funds for renovating it. She’d also provided funding for hiring additional staff. 

Tessa had hired Maggie two years ago and then six months ago hired Clint Dougherty and Patrick Ashton. Their hiring had been gently forced on her by the current mayor, as quasi-patronage jobs. Both men had political connections in Rivermont and possessed the minimum qualifications for the position of entry-level victim advocates.

Tessa had tried to work with the men, to mentor them. She’d diligently tried to not resent having to hire them, but things were not going well. This was mainly due to Clint’s and Patrick’s lack of a work ethic. They were both actively seeking more lucrative employment and had no qualms about taking off, ostensibly because they were ill, but actually, Tessa and Maggie were both convinced, for job interviews.

Tessa was winding up the phone call, and Maggie grinned as she heard her boss’s closing words. “Sweetheart, please remember to tell the twins they have to chew their vegetables – swallowing them whole is not acceptable.”

Tessa strode back to her desk and hung up the cordless phone. Rather than sitting down in the leather chair behind her desk, she sat in the chair next to Maggie. She slumped in the chair, leaning her head on its high padded back, closing her eyes and kicking off her shoes. 

Maggie waited patiently, giving her a few moments’ respite. She gazed at Tessa, whom she considered a gorgeous woman. She was taller than Maggie, who was 5 feet seven inches. Both Tess and Maggie were slim and fit, and they both had dark hair. But there the likeness ended. Tessa’s hair was long and straight and was usually coiled on top of her head in an artful arrangement that drew attention to her high cheekbones and glittering green eyes. Maggie’s hair was short and curly, usually in an artful but becoming tousle.

Maggie was 35 but Tessa at 45 could have passed for the same age as Maggie. When people asked her how she managed to look younger than her age, Tessa’s reply had been a wide grin and the statement, “Living with a kindergarten teacher and running after two kindergartners would keep anyone looking young, or dead!” That always got a laugh from her audience.

After a minute or so, Tessa opened her eyes and sat up straighter in the chair. “Well, my friend, we have a new client for you. Let me give you the details”
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Cassandra Collier had been trying to call her daughter Maggie for the past half-hour, to finalize their plans to take in a movie that evening. When they'd talked the day before, Maggie had said that Jackson might be interested in going with them, if they didn't settle on a "chick-flick."
The new movie listings came out on Friday, and that morning, Cassandra had dutifully checked the newspaper and had found the perfect movie for the three of them at the dollar show, now the three dollar show. Unstoppable, the train wreck action adventure flick with Denzel Washington and Chris Pine. But then she got sidetracked with a pressing plot twist idea for the mystery that she was currently writing. She became so engrossed in the book that she lost all track of time. When she finally surfaced, she saw that it was already late afternoon. She called the land line at the A-frame and got the answering machine. She then tried Maggie's cell and got voice mail. Next she tried Maggie's office number and got voice mail.
Then, as a last resort, she decided to call Jackson. She tried to avoid bothering him at the office but she was starting to be a bit concerned at her inability to reach Maggie.
Jackson answered his cell on the first ring, with a cheery, "Hi, Ma," his affectionate nickname for his mother-in-law.
"Hi, dear," Cassandra said. "Sorry to bother you but I can't seem to locate Maggie. Any idea where she is?"
"Yeah," Jackson answered. "Unfortunately, she got called in to work this afternoon. So I guess that puts the kibosh on your movie plans for this evening."
"Looks like it. I don't suppose you're available? I found the perfect non-chick-flick for us. That Denzel movie is at the cheap show, and I don't think either of us has seen it yet."
"Sorry, normally I'd love nothing better than to take a beautiful woman to see Denzel but I'm on the trail of a hot story and need to keep on it."
They said good-bye, with Jackson promising to let Maggie know he'd talked with her Mom to explain the change in plans for the evening.
Cassandra sighed as she hung up the phone. Then she smiled and went to change clothes. She'd go see Denzel on her own. She quickly got out of the running suit she'd been wearing that day and changed into jeans and a sweater. As she changed, her Himalayan cat Hank watched from his perch on her king-sized bed, head cocked, as if to say, "Where are we going?"
"Sorry, kid," Cassandra said to Hank. "This is a solo journey tonight." She grabbed her handbag and headed to the closet for her fur-lined parka. On the way to the garage, she stopped in the kitchen to put some of Hank's favorite treats into his bowl. He'd yowled at her and then concentrated on eating, ignoring her departure. She backed her Lexus SUV out of the garage and onto the street, taking care to stay away from the pickup truck and service van parked directly across the street. Once, she'd forgotten the vehicles were parked there and had backed out and smashed into the service van, denting the driver's side door.
Fortunately, Cassandra had an accident-free driving record and the claims adjuster had told her that her rates wouldn't increase this time - it was her "get out of jail free card," so to speak.

[t was just starting to snow, and Cassandra groaned at the thought of another snowstorm to deal with. This winter had been unusually icy and snowy, and she was thoroughly sick and tired of bad weather. She lived in a small cottage-like ranch-style house in one of the suburban subdivisions near Maggie and Jackson's A-frame at Edelweiss. She liked feeling close to them, even if it was only for part of the year.
As she drove to the movie theater on the outskirts of Rivermont, she started thinking about her current mystery-in-the-works and came up with a potential solution to a tricky plot point. She'd learned long ago to never count on being able to remember her ideas. She'd have to write it down or make an audio note of it. Her iPod Touch was mounted on the dashboard and the combo headphone and microphone was plugged in so she used that to record a voice memo. Recently, she'd indulged herself in an array of techie toys. In addition to the iPod Touch, she'd bought herself a nifty new laptop. She was planning to buy an iPad 2 as soon as they were available this Doming March. Maggie had one of the original iPads, and her daughter adored it. She delighted in demo ing to her Mom all the cool apps she'd either purchased or downloaded for free.
Voice memo finished, Cassandra turned her attention back to the road, secure in the knowledge that the idea she'd had would be available for her to use when she needed it.
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As Tessa began giving Maggie the details on the new client, Maggie quickly opened her laptop and set it on the corner of Tessa's desk. Microsoft Word was already up and running on the laptop, and Maggie was able to begin taking notes.
"The new client is a 29-year-old woman who has lived here in Rivermont all her life. Her name is Betheny Crowell - " Maggie's gasp of surprise interrupted Tessa, who gave her a quizzical look.
"I know who Betheny Crowell is," Maggie said slowly.
"Hmm," was Tessa's response. "Do you know her personally?" she asked.
"No, I just know the name and the reputation," Maggie answered.
"Would it be a problem for you to wor-k with her? If it is, I can take the case or try to track down one of the boys." Tessa grimaced as she said 'the boys.'
"No, it won't be a problem. I'm just surprised that she's a victim. She's one of those high society types who are never victims."
Tessa said, "You know better than that. We can all be victims of one kind or another. Well, if you're sure it won't be a problem, I'll fill you in on the case."
Maggie gave her a thumbs up, then poised her fingers over the keyboard of the laptop.
"Okay, here goes." Tessa took a deep breath, then continued, "I received a phone call from the Rivermont prosecutor's office about an hour ago, and then I got a call from the detective on the case." Tessa stood up and walked around her desk to pick up a notepad, then sat down behind the desk and flipped through her notes. "According to what Betheny Crowell told the authorities, she was attacked by her fiance who was waving a pistol at her. To protect herself, she says she grabbed for the pistol and as they were struggling, the gun went off and shot her fiance in the chest."
Tessa paused and Maggie looked over at her and asked, "Is he dead?"
"Almost," was Tessa's answer. Then she apologized. "I'm sorry. That was incredibly flippant of me. It's been a long day. No, he's in Rivermont Memorial in a coma, and they don't think he's going to make it."
"Anyway, the police department and the prosecutor's office are both handling this one with kid gloves. As you know, Crowell is a major name in Rivermont so we have to pull out all the stops on this one. Ms. Crowell is on her way over here from the prosecutor's office. She's bringing her attorney with her so that should be fun. Do you want me to sit in on the initial interview with you?"
Maggie considered Tessa's offer, then said slowly, "I can handle it, of course, but the fact that she's being accompanied by her attorney makes me think that it might be better if both of us talked with her. Do you mind?"
"No, I agree. Let's meet with her in the conference room. You go get things set up in there, and I'll put on a pot of coffee." Tessa and Maggie walked out of Tessa's office together. Maggie headed into the conference room, while Tessa walked down the central staircase into the kitchen / breaks room area.

Fifteen minutes later, as Tessa was coming back downstairs after taking the coffee to the conference, a woman and man came through the main entrance, Betheny Crowell and her attorney Tessa assumed.

The woman looked to be in her early 30s. She was of medium height and slender almost to the point of thinness. She had flyaway white-blond hair and pale skin. She was dressed casually, in a long flowing flowered skirt, topped by a white silk blouse and a short fuzzy jacket. Her shoes were black ballet flats but they were barely visible under the long skirt. In her hand she clasped a small leather bag that didn't look large enough to carry more than car keys and lip gloss.

The man accompanying her was about the same age but was as professionally dressed as Betheny was casual. He was tall and dark-haired, good looking in a formal, stand-offish way. 

Tessa walked toward them, her hand extended, saying, "Good evening, I'm Tessa Daniels, the director of the Victim Advocate Center."

The man shook Tessa's hand and said, "This is Betheny Crowell, my client, and yours also, I suppose. My name is Victor Alleman." He reached in his jacket pocket and pulled out a business card that he handed to Tessa. 

Tessa looked at the card, nodded, then slipped the card into her own jacket pocket. "I'm familiar with your firm, Mr. Alleman."

"Please, call me Victor."

Tessa nodded, then said, "If you'll follow me. We have a conference room upstairs." Tessa led the way and Betheny and Victor followed her up the stairs and into the conference room.

Maggie was sitting on one side of the long oak table, iPad 2 open in front of her. Several pads of paper and several pens were placed in the middle of the table. The smell of freshly brewed coffee wafted through the room. Maggie had turned on all the lights in the room in an attempt to give the room a warmth and coziness that it didn't possess. 

"Ms. Crowell, Mr. Alleman, may I introduce my colleague, Maggie Bell. She'll be the advocate assigned to Ms. Crowell's case."

Maggie stood, shook hands with Betheny and the attorney, then said, "Please, may I offer you coffee?"

Both Victor and Betheny refused coffee, and Maggie said, "Please, have a seat." Victor and Betheny took seats on the opposite side of the table from where Maggie had been sitting. Tessa took a seat at the head of the table, not so subtly indicating that she considered herself the one in charge.

Maggie went over to the coffee area and poured cups for herself and Tessa, placing Tessa's cup in front of her, then carrying hers back and setting it down next to her iPad 2.

Tessa reached in her jacket pocket and pulled out a miniature digital recorder and laid it on the conference room table in front of her.

"Ms. Crowell, may I have your permission to record our meeting?" Tessa spoke directly to Betheny.

Betheny started to respond but stopped when she felt her attorney's touch on her arm. She leaned in to him and he whispered something in her ear. She nodded and Victor turned to Tessa and said, "Ms. Crowell has no objection as long as we receive a transcript of the recording when it's available. And of course, we would want to review any use of the recording."

"All perfectly acceptable conditions," Tessa said as she clicked on the recorder. She flicked a glance at Maggie and gave her an almost imperceptible nod, which Maggie understood to mean that she needed to take extra careful, extra detailed notes. This was their first experience where a potential client of the victim advocate center had brought an attorney with him or her.

"Now, Ms. Crowell, can you please give us as detailed account of the incident as you can," Tessa requested. '

Once again, Betheny glanced at her attorney before answering. His only response was a brief nod, which Maggie and Tessa interpreted as Victor giving Betheny permission to give them the details of what had happened to her.

"Todd, Todd Kramer, is -- was my fiancé. We've been engaged for a month. We've been seeing each other for just over year. Todd owns a popular restaurant in downtown Rivermont, The Piedmont?" She glanced up, first at Tessa and then at Maggie, as if to see if they were familiar with the restaurant. Both women nodded to indicate they knew the eatery.

"Last night, I went to the Symphony with my parents. Todd wasn't able to come with us. He works at the restaurant most evenings so our social life is limited. After the Symphony, my parents dropped me at the restaurant. At first, I couldn't find Todd. Usually he's out front, greeting guests, making sure things were running smoothly. But he was nowhere in sight. I finally located him in his office, with the door locked. I knocked and told him it was me but he told me to go away, told me he couldn't talk to me." Betheny paused in her narrative and turned to Maggie and asked for a glass of water. Maggie said of course and went to the small kitchen alcove in the back of the conference room and returned in moments with a crystal water glass filled with ice and sparking water. She set it down in front of Betheny and accepted Betheny's thanks.

"I was concerned. Todd didn't sound like himself. I went back to the restaurant to talk to the manager. He was behind the bar, filling in for one of the bartenders who'd called in sick. I asked him for the key to Todd's office, telling him I was worried about his state of mind. The manager said he hadn't noticed anything off about Todd but things had been busy and perhaps he'd overlooked a problem. He offered to come with me but I told him I would rather do it alone."
Betheny paused to take a sip of water, then continued. "I went back to Todd's office and unlocked the door. I went inside and closed and locked the door behind me. I didn't want anyone to come in and see him that way. Todd was seated behind his desk, his head down, resting on his arms. In his right hand, he held a gun, some kind of gun, I didn't know what kind, I don't know anything about guns..." Betheny stopped talking, seeming to realize that she'd begun to ramble. Once again, she sipped from the glass of water in front of her. She looked around the table, then turned to her attorney and asked, "Where was I?"
Victor reached out a hand to pat Betheny's shoulder and said, "You were telling us about the gun in Todd's hand."

"Oh, yes, the gun. Well, I walked over to the desk and stood beside Todd. I put my hand on his shoulder and he jumped and yelled at me." She stopped and looked around the room once again.
This time, Maggie asked her a question. "What did he yell?"
Betheny repeated the question slowly, enunciating each word carefully. "What did he yell?" She hesitated, then answered, "I don't know. I don't remember."

"Does it matter?" Victor interjected.
Tessa answered rather than Maggie. "It might. But maybe not. Go on with your story, Ms. Crowell."

Betheny nodded and said, "All right. I tried to talk to him. I asked him what was wrong, why he had a gun in his hand. But he wouldn't talk to me. He just began to cry and eventually that turned into an awful, wrenching sobbing. 1 couldn't bear it. I begged him to tell me what was wrong but he just sobbed. Finally, I put my arm around him and tried to take the gun from his hand. He jumped up and somehow the gun went off and shot him." For the first time, Betheny Crowell showed some emotion. She began to cry quietly and Victor tried to comfort her. Maggie pushed a box of Kleenex toward Betheny, and Victor grabbed a handful of tissues and shoved them into Betheny's hand.

Finally, she stopped crying, and Maggie asked, "What happened then?"
"Well, all of a sudden the room was filled with people. Lots of people. Yelling and carrying on. They kept asking m< what happened but I didn't know what to say. Someone must have called 911 because pretty soon there were policeman and paramedics. They took Todd away and then the police took me down to the police station. I called Victor before they took me away, and he met me at the station." She looked over at Victor as it to see if he approved of what she'd said. He nodded at her, and said. "Fortunately, I live in downtown Rivermont so I was only minutes away."
Tessa and Maggie exchanged quizzical looks, as if to say, "Who cares?" "And then what happened?" Tessa asked.
"Well, the police detectives asked me some questions and I told them what I've just told you. They said Todd's shooting was clearly an accident and that of course I wouldn't be charged with anything. I was pretty upset and that's when they told me that I should talk to a victim's advocate. They gave Victor the phone number and told him to make an appointment as soon as possible. And here we are."

Betheny paused, then added, "Of course, I spent most or today at the hospital, waiting to see how Todd is. The hospital wouldn't let me in his room so I sat in the waiting room outside the ICU."
Once again, Tessa and Maggie exchanged glances. Then Tessa said, "let me walk you through what we do here, then we can get you started on our victim process." She reached into her briefcase and pulled out a brochure and several forms and handed them to Betheny.
"The brochure provides an overview of our mission and our services. In a nutshell, we're here to officially protect and support victims of crimes. In the past, victims would sometimes fall through the cracks of the judicial system, and our charge is to make sure that doesn't happen. The type of services we provide depend on what the victim needs. That will be the next step in our process. Maggie will spend some time with you, assessing what happened to you and deciding what support and services you need." Tessa paused, waiting for Betheny or Victor to comment.
Neither one said anything, so Maggie spoke up. "The kinds of support and services we offer include recommendations on counselors, financial help if needed, coordinating what happens with the police and the judicial system, and making sure you have everything you need through this process."
Victor and Betheny looked at one another for a moment, and then Victor said, "I don't know whether Betheny really needs any of that. I think her family and her legal representation are capable of providing whatever support she needs."
Tessa started to respond when her pager went off. She looked down at the message, then stood, saying, "Please excuse me. I must take care of something." She left the conference room and went into her office, closing the door behind her. She called the number on her pager, and was surprised when the phone was answered," Chief of Police Walter Melville."
"Walt? This is Tessa Daniels at VAC. Did you just page me?"
"Yes, Tessa, I did. It's about Betheny Crowell. Have you talked with her yet?"
"Actually, she and her attorney are in our conference room right now. What's going on?"
The chief hesitated, then said, "It's not good, Tessa. We just found out that Todd Kramer took out a restraining order on Betheny Crowell yesterday. Unfortunately, because of what happened last night, the order hadn't been served on her yet."
"A restraining order?" Tessa questioned. "What are the details?"
"I'll fax a copy over to you but the gist of it is that Kramer claimed that Ms. Crowell was harassing him and refused to accept his breaking their engagement. The document claims she threatened him on several occasions and that she'd been bombarding him with phone calls, text messages and e-mails. The document also said she'd been showing up uninvited at his home and the restaurant he owns. Of course, the restaurant is a public place and she can go there, but the restraining order prohibits her from being within 150 feet of Kramer so that limits her access to the restaurant."
"Walt, this is unbelievable. We have a woman here who claims her fiance was despondent and threatening to kill himself. She says she tried to get the gun away from him to protect him and it went off."
"I know," Walt sighed as he spoke. "I don't know what's going on. I thought you'd better have this information before you proceed any further."
Jackson
Friday, January 7, 2011
Jackson listened intently as Paul Washington read through his notes. 

"The new piece of information from Detective Walker concerns a restraining order." Paul paused to let the words sink in.

Jackson looked at him and said, "Betheny took out a restraining order on Kramer?"

"No, just the opposite. Matt says Todd Kramer took out a restraining order on Betheny Crowell yesterday, ordering her to stay at least 150 feet away from him. But it hadn't been served on her yet."

"That's wild, Jackson said. "Did Walker know what Kramer's reasons for the order were?"

"Well, he had some information from the paperwork Kramer filed. Kramer claimed she'd been unwilling to accept their break-up, him calling off their engagement. She wouldn't leave him alone, kept calling, texting, emailing. He said she'd been following him and sometimes she sit in her car in the middle of the night outside his downtown apartment. Walker thinks the main reason for the restraining order was that her stalking had started to affect his restaurant business."

"Restaurant?" Jackson asked.

"Yeah, it's one of those fancy downtown eateries," Paul said. He checked his notes, flipping the pages in the small leather notebook till he found what he was looking for. "The Piedmont. I've never heard of it. Have you?"

'Yup," Jackson answered. "Maggie and I went there for a dinner a month or so ago. We both liked it, and we'll probably go back. It's very white tablecloth, high-end, but the food is great and that's really all that counts in a restaurant. So what else did Walker have to say?"

Paul turned back to his notes. "He did some of the same Internet digging that we did. And he was as surprised as we were at what there was to find. You just don't think you'll find dirt on some society girl. Walker also did some searching in the various police databases. He found another instance where a man in St. Louis had filed a complaint against Betheny for harassment. Evidently she worked in the city for a year or two."

"Hmm, well like I said, I didn't really know her, just her parents. I feel really bad for them. Peter and Grace Crowell are great people, and Mom and Dad think the world of them. Speaking of Dad, I wish he'd call em back. He always knows what's going on this town so he might be able to give us some insights."  Jackson stood up and began to pace between his desk and Paul's. Finally he said, "I'm not sure what to do about this. It's kind of interesting, in a quirky way. Why don't you do your article for the morning paper and I'll poke around and see if I can find an angle for my column?"

"Sounds like a plan," Paul agreed, heading back to his computer. 

Jackson sat down and saw that the message light on his phone was blinking red. Then he realized he'd pressed the Send Calls button on the phone when he'd gone over to talk to Paul. He accessed his voice mail and heard his father's voice booming over the line. "Hi, son. I got your message. I haven't heard anything about Betheny Crowell bur I'll see what I can find out and get back in touch."

Jackson saw that his cell phone, lying in the center of his desk, was showing a message icon, and he assumed his father had tried to reach him on his cell also. He listened to his voice mail and once again heard his father's booming voice, saying much the same thing he'd said on the landline voice message.
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Cassandra
Friday, January 7, 2011
When she arrived at the movie theater, Cassandra groaned when she saw she was more than half an hour early. Somehow, she must have misread the show times in the newspaper. She was convinced that the type got smaller each day. Previously, she had had no problem reading small type. Maybe it was time for an eye exam. She wore glasses for distance vision and always for driving. It had been almost two years since she'd been to the eye doctor.
Fortunately, Maggie was unaware of her tardiness with her eye exam. Maggie had appointed herself the arbiter of her mother's health-related responsibilities and nagged her when she was overdue for a checkup or physical.
Once again, Cassandra pulled out her iPod Touch and recorded a note for herself to schedule an eye exam. She grinned, taking great delight in her toy. It was amazing how useful and how indispensable it had become.

She glanced again at the clock and saw that she still had 15 minutes before it was time to buy her ticket and go enjoy an adventurous evening with Denzel. She debated whether to read the book she had stored on the iPod or listen to the audio book she'd downloaded from the library. The audio book won out because reading would have required more concentration than she could currently muster.
She sat there in the front seat, head leaning back, eyes closed, half listening to Carl Bernstein's book about Hillary Clinton, A Woman in Charge. She was aghast at what had gone on in the Clinton presidency about which she'd had no clue. She'd known the well-publicized things but the other things were just as bad or worse.
Cassandra was a lifelong Democrat but this book was shaming her. She supposed she was more naive about politics than she'd thought.
Just as she was about to get out of the car, her cell phone rang, with Maggie's ringtone of the old BeeGees '80s tune Nights on Broadway. She answered with a cheery, "Hi, baby girl!"

"Hi, Mom. I'm so bummed that Jackson and I couldn't go to the movie with you. I only have a minute. Tessa and I are meeting with a new client any minute. I just want to call and say Hi and tell you we'll reschedule."
"Well, if you don't mind, we'll find another movie for us to go to. I'm here at the theater now, doing a solo trip to the flicks. You know how I feel about Denzel"
"Yes, Mom, that I know. Have a good time and tell the big D hi for me. Bye."
Cassandra hung up, smiling to herself. She loved her daughter so much that sometimes it was almost painful. She put her phone on vibrate and slipped it into her jacket pocket. Checking to make sure she had her iPod and her glasses, she got out of the car and started toward the movie theater. Remembering that she hadn't locked the car, she started to run around when something struck her on the back of the head and that was the last thing she knew before descending into a pit of blackness.
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Lawrence Bell
Friday, January 7, 2011
Lawrence Bell's cell phone pinged, indicating he had a voice message waiting for him. Unfortunately, he was not in a position to check his phone. He and his operations manager were currently on the roof of a downtown building, trying to figure out why the security system their men had installed the day before was sending out periodic alerts when there was nothing happening.
"Mr. Bell, there's no reason on God's green earth why this darn-fangled system keeps going off. I've checked and double-check every connection. It's just impossible." Harvey Wilcox had worked with Lawrence Bell for almost 20 years, from the day Lawrence started his security firm. Even though he was a good 15 years older than Lawrence, Harvey insisted on calling his employer Mr. no matter how many times Lawrence ordered him to call him by his first name.
"There's one section we haven't checked yet," Lawrence said. "It's the housing over there by the skylight."
The two men walked across the top of the building, feeling the chill of the nighttime air blowing around them. They'd turned on the roof spotlights and also carried high-beam torches with them.
Harvey reached the housing first and reached down to remove the lid. He jumped back, making a loud groan.
"What is it?" Lawrence asked.
Harvey started to chuckle and turned to Lawrence to say, "Look for yourself."
Lawrence bent over and shone his flashlight down into the housing. What he saw caused him to laugh out loud A mother squirrel had made a nest inside with pieces of insulation, old paper towels, scraps of cloth and what looked like a pompom. Inside the conglomeration she'd gathered together, lay two baby squirrels, nestled close to their mother. All three animals stared up at the two men, but didn't try to escape.
Lawrence gently closed the lid of the housing and pulled out his cell phone. He called information and got then umber of the animal rescue association located nearby and called them. Fifteen minutes later, Lawrence and Harvey were joined by two men in the animal rescue association uniform, each carrying a wire cage.
Fifteen minutes after that, the animal rescue men had successfully extricated the mother and two baby squirrels and stowed them safely inside one of the cages. Lawrence handed the a generous check he'd written to the association and also gave each of the men two twenty dollar bills. The men had first refused the money, saying they were just doing their jobs, but when Lawrence insisted, they'd graciously accepted the money and thanked him profusely.
Harvey and Lawrence had carefully checked the housing and cleaned out the squirrel's nest debris. They were relieved to see that that had been the problem and the security system was now working as it should.

The two men walked to the rooftop door and inside the building. Harvey said goodnight and took the elevator downstairs to the main floor entrance. Lawrence stayed there on the top floor to check the messages he'd seen on this phone when he'd called information.
After he listened to Jackson's message about Betheny Crowell, he called Jackson's cell and got voice mail and left a "call me" message. He tried Jackson's office number and also got voice mail so he left another "call me" message. Betheny's dad. .Peter Crowell had also left a message for Lawrence so he now returned Peter's call.

"Lawrence, thank you so much for calling me back. Have you by any chance heard about what happened to Betheny?"
"Yes, Jackson left me a message about it but I haven't talked with him yet," Lawrence answered. "Lawrence, I need your help. Betheny needs your help." Peter Crowell's voice cracked as he spoke the words.
"Whatever you need, Peter. Do you want me to come by your house now? I've finished up the emergency I was working on so I'm available." Lawrence heaved a silent, inward sigh. It was late and he was tired and he hadn't had dinner. But Peter and his wife Grace were good friends and it sounded like they needed his help. He didn't know Betheny well at all but she was their daughter and his loyalty to his friends transferred to her.

"Lawrence, I would be forever in your debt if you could do that."
Moments later, Lawrence disconnected the call and took the elevator to the main level of the building. His company pick-up was parked right outside the front door, in a no-parking zone. But he had a special placard for his front window, courtesy of the Rivermont PD, that read Emergency Vehicle. That sign pretty much gave him permission to park anywhere he pleased for as long as he pleased. But Lawrence was scrupulously careful about using the sign and refused to abuse the privilege he'd been granted.

Sitting inside the truck, he called his wife Alicia . "Hi sweetheart," he said when she answered her cell. "Sorry but I'm going to be even later."
He told her about Betheny Crowell's situation and that Peter had asked for his help.

"Yes, I know, dear. I just got off the phone with Grace. In fact, I'm on way over there as we speak. She's not doing well at all. The doctor is on the way to see her. Peter is afraid her blood pressure is elevated."

They chatted about each of their day's activities then rung off, saying they'd see each other soon.

Lawrence turned on the radio in the truck to a local news station and listened to see if there was any mention of Betheny Crowell. The incident had happened the evening before, and he assumed it was no longer breaking news but perhaps there might be a recap of the story.
After a few minutes, the newscaster began speaking about Betheny Crowell.

"And now, an update on the Betheny Crowell situation. To recap, last night, Ms. Crowell was involved in an accidental shooting incident with her fiancé, Todd Kramer. Kramer suffered a gunshot wound to the chest and is listed in critical condition in coma at Rivermont Memorial Hospital. In Ms Crowell's statement to police, she said her fiancé was threatening to kill himself and she struggled with him, trying to take the gun away from him. During the struggle, the gun went off, striking Kramer in the chest. Ms Crowell was not injured."
Lawrence turned off the radio, musing over the newscaster calling Betheny Ms. Crowell and the fiancé by his last name, Kramer. He assumed that word had come from the powers that be to show proper respect to a member of one Rivermont's leading families.
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Alicia  Bell
Friday, January 7, 2011
Alicia slipped her cell phone back in her jacket pocket. She was still sitting in the driveway, not wanting to talk and dive at the same time. She was glad that Lawrence was also on his way over to the Crowells' home. She was going as moral support for her friend Grace but Lawrence was going as an expert in the field of law enforcement and security, and she was sure he'd be able to steer Peter in the right direction..
Peter and Grace Crowell lived in an elegant, old-money section of Rivermont in 19th century mansion. Rather than taking the perimeter highway, Alicia drove the city streets, preferring the less hectic pace they offered. She assumed that Lawrence, who regularly drove like a bat out of hell would get to the Crowells' long before she did. However, to her surprise, when she pulled into the Crowells' driveway, Lawrence pulled in right behind her. She wondered what had delayed him.
She got out of her BMW sedan and locked it with the key fob. It was getting windier and she scrunched herself down into the collar of her wool coat to ward off the wind. Lawrence swung his tall body out of the Bell Security pickup and came over to give her a hug and a peck on the cheek.
"Good to see you, my love," Alicia  said. "I wish it were under better circumstances."
Arm in arm, the Bells walked up the circular driveway to the massive front door. Before they could ring the doorbell or knock, the double wooden doors swung open and Peter and Grace stood there framed in the doorway.
Peter was short, shorter than Alicia , and almost completely bald, except for wispy fringes of gray hair on the back of his head and above his ears. When he was a young man, he'd been handsome but age had robbed him of his good looks. Grace too suffered the ravages of time, and she had traded her blond curls for a brisk bob of white hair. Alicia  reached out to hug Grace and the two women clung together.
"Come in, come in," Peter boomed. "It's too cold and windy to stand out there any longer than we need to."
Alicia  and Lawrence followed Peter and Grace into the entry foyer. Peter took their coats and hung them in one of the two coat closets in the foyer.
"We're in the den," Grace said, leading the way down the terra cotta hallway into a cozy room filled with firelight. Everyone but Peter took seats in front of the fireplace and waited for Peter to join them with a tray filled with a bottle of cognac and brandy glasses.
Peter poured glasses for all of them, then sat next to his wife. He began speaking As the other three sipped their brandy.
"Thank you both for coming. You can't know how much it means to Gracie and me." "Where's Betheny? Is she all right?" Alicia  asked, looking first at Grace and then at Peter.
Cassandra

Friday, January 7, 2011 
Cassandra tried to open her eyes but was unable to. She tried again and finally was able to open first her left eye and then her right.  To her surprise, what she saw once her eyes were open was the face of what looked like a teenaged boy. 

“Ma’am? Ma’am?” His voice was frantic. “Geez, ma’am, are you okay? I’m going to call 911.” He laid what looked like skateboard down next to him and pulled a cell phone out of his baggy jeans pocket. He was wearing only a hoodie, not a jacket, in spite of the freezing temperatures.

“Wait!” The word came out in Cassandra’s cracked voice. “Let me see if I can sit up.” Cassandra made an effort but was unable to get herself in a sitting position. “Okay,” she said to the boy. “Give me your hand.”

The boy reached out and took Cassandra’s pale hand in his black one and gently pulled while she pushed. They managed to get her sitting up. She looked around and realized she was sitting on the asphalt parking lot of the dollar show. She thought for a moment, trying to remember what she had been doing. She felt around on her arms and legs but nothing hurt and nothing seemed broken.

“Geez, lady, I’d so sorry. I didn’t mean to run into you.”

Cassandra stared up at him, noticing his worried face. 

“I didn’t see you,” the boy said, shaking his head. “I use my board here on the lot between shows. The manager said I could as long as it’s when there’s no traffic on the lot. I live right across the street there.” He pointed in the direction of a row of brick bungalows set back from the street. Cassandra slowly turned her head to look.

Then she said to the boy, “Let’s see if we can get me up on my feet.” The boy took her hand again and carefully pulled till Cassandra was standing.

“My name’s Tony – Anthony really, Anthony Washington.”

“Glad to meet you, Tony, although I wish the circumstances had been better,” Cassandra said with a smile. “My name is Cassandra Collier. What happened?”

Well, I was taking my board across the lot and I didn’t see you. I tried to stop but I ran right into you and knocked you flat on your back. Is your head okay? I couldn’t tell if you hit your head on the pavement.”

Cassandra reached up both hand and felt around on her head but found no bumps or lumps. “My head seems okay. I guess I’m okay – and pretty lucky.”

“Are you sure we shouldn’t call 911? Maybe they should do x-rays or Cat Scans or MRIs or whatever.

“You seem pretty knowledgeable about medical tests,” Cassandra said.

“Yeah,” Tony agreed. “Well. I watch a lot of TV, and my mom’s a nurse.”

“That explains it,” Cassandra said. She was enjoying this young man.

“Say, ma’am, could you come across the street to my house and let my mom take a look at you. I’d feel a lot better if you would.”

Cassandra hesitated, not quite sure she should do that. Tony must have noticed her hesitation because he flipped open his phone and pressed a speed dial key.

“Yo, Mom, it’s me. Hey, here’s the deal. I ran into this lady on the theater parking lot and knocked her down. She says she’s okay and she doesn’t want to call 911 but I thought maybe we could come over and have you take a look at her. What do you say?”

Cassandra watched as the boy’s face turned grave, and he lowered his head. “Yes, ma’am,” she heard him say in a subdued tone. Then to her surprise, he handed his phone to her. “My mom would like to speak to you, please.”

Unsure what to do, Cassandra nevertheless took the phone and said, “Hello?” She listened for a moment, then smiled slightly and said, “Yes, what Tony told you is true, And it was an accident. The place where I’m parked seems to be darker than the rest of the lot and he just didn’t see me.” 

She listened again, then said, “I’m sure I’m just fine but to reassure you and your son, I’d be glad to come and have you check me over.” Cassandra handed the phone back to Tony, who said “See ya—“ into it and hung up.

“All right,” Cassandra said firmly. “My car is right over here. Let’s go.” She and Tony headed toward her the Lexus SUV and heard Tony’s low whistle. She looked over at him, he said, “Cool ride!” Cassandra laughed and said, “Yeah, it is.”

It too only two minutes to get from the theater parking lot to Tony’s house across the street. As Cassandra pulled into the driveway of the brick bungalow, she saw the front door open and a woman stood outlined there.

Tony was out of the SUV and halfway up the front sidewalk before Cassandra had opened the driver’s door. As if remembering his manners, especially since his mother was watching his every move, Tony stopped his forward motion and turned back to Cassandra, saying, “Do you need any help?”

Cassandra shook her head and came up beside Tony. They walked side by side up the sidewalk. Tony’s motgher had come out onto the front porch to greet them. She was dressed in a lightweight running suit and had her arms clasped together against the cold. Cassandra said¸ “Please, Mrs. Washington, it’s too cold out here for upi without a coat. Please come inside.”

“Yeah, Mom,” Tony echoed, “Please come inside. You’ll catch your death of cold out here.” Tony’s mother snorted at that comment, and Cassandra could only assume it was something Tony had heard his mother say.

The three of them entered the house and Mrs. Washington closed the bright red front door firmly behind them. For a moment they stood in the entry hall, and Cassandra turned to Tony’s mother and introduced herself. “Mrs. Washington, my name is Cassandra Collier and it’s kind of you to check me over. “ 

Mrs. Washington reached out to shake Cassandra’s proffered hand, saying, “Please, call me Angelica. Let’s come in here to the living room where there’s enough light, and I’ll have a look at you.” Tony’s mother led the way into the living room, then turned to Cassandra and said, “Why don’t you sit in that chair there, by the lamp?”

Angelica Washington perched on the ottoman next to the chair and reached out and held one of Cassandra’s wrists in hers to take her pulse.

Cassandra and Tony waited for the verdict. Then Angelica said, “A little fast but that’s to be expected after what happened. Now, I’m assuming that nothing feels broken, no sprains or anything like htat?”

“No, nothing,” Cassandra said, shaking her head for emphasis, then pausing as a wave of dizziness washed over her.

Friday, January 7, 2011

Maggie 

Tessa came back inside the conference room, and Maggie was surprised to see a grim look on her face. Something must be wrong but Maggie couldn’t imagine what it was. 

Tessa stood in the doorway and addressed Victor Alleman. “Mr. Alleman, if you and your client would excuse us for a moment, I need to confer with my colleague.”

Victor nodded, looked at Betheny, then said to Tessa, “Of course, take all the time you need.”

Tessa motioned to Maggie, who grabbed her iPad and followed her boss out of the conference room and into Tessa’s office. 

Inside, Tessa close the door behind them, and stood there for  a second before saying, “Something unusual has come up, and I’m not sure how to proceed.”

“What is it?” Maggie asked, a note of confusion in her question.

“That call I just received was from Walt Melville with information about Betheny Crowell that puts a whole different spin on this situation.”

“What did the Chief say?” Maggie asked. Now impatience tinged her question. Tessa usually didn’t take so long to get to the point.

“He just learned that Todd Kramer took out a restraining order on Betheny Crowell yesterday, for harassment. But the order hadn’t been served on her yet, so Walt is assuming she doesn’t know anything about it.”

“Wow,” Taggie said. Then she added, “That certainly does change things. Maybe Betheny isn’t the victim here.”

“That’s what I’m thinking,” Tessa agreed. “And now I don’t know how to proceed.”

For a few moments, the two women stood lost in thought. Finally, Maggie said, “I have an idea that might buy us some time till we can figure out what to do. Why don’t I say it’s getting late and suggest that I meet with Betheny tomorrow morning so we can set up a plan of action. I’ll tell her I need to gather more information from the police before we can proceed.”

Tessa considered Maggie’s suggestion, then said, “I think that might work. And the good thing is that it’s true. I’d like you to follow up with Walt and with the detective assigned to the case. I don’t think we have all the information we need.”

The two women went back into the conference room and took their seats. Maggie looked toward Betheny and said to her, “Ms. Crowell, Mrs. Daniels has asked me to follow up with the police to get a copy of the incident report. I’ll do that this evening and then we can meet again tomorrow morning, if that works for you?”

Betheny looked at her attorney and he leaned over and whispered in her ear. She shook her head, and he once again whispered something to her. This time she nodded and Alleman spoke for her.

“That will be fine with Ms. Crowell. If it’s all right with you, we’d like to meet with you at Ms. Crowell’s home tomorrow morning.” He took a business card out of his pocket and wrote something on the back and handed it across the table to Maggie. “Here’s Ms. Crowell’s address and my cell phone number for you to call if anything comes up. If not, we’ll see you at the Crowells at 11 tomorrow morning.”

Tony and Angelica Friday, January 7, 2011
As Cassandra started to sway, Angelica grabbed her and just barely kept her from falling out of the chair. She gently moved Cassandra further back on the chair, then said, "Ms. Collier, I think we'd best get you to the hospital for a check-up. I'm going to call an ambulance. I don't like the possibility of a head trauma. I'll ride along with you in the ambulance." She walked out of the room and Cassandra could hear her on the phone.

Tony stood motionless next to where Cassandra sat. "I'm so sorry." Cassandra reached out a hand and took one of his hands in hers. "Please don't feel bad, Tony. It was an accident. You didn't deliberately run into me."

Angelica came back into the living room and said, "The ambulance will be here in five minutes." She had a jacket draped over her arm, and her handbag was slung over her left shoulder.

"Tony, I wasn't able to reach your Dad. His cell and the land line at his desk both went directly to voice mail. I left messages but if he comes home while I'm gone, can you give him the whole story?"
"Sure, Mom." He looked at his mother and said, "I'm so sorry about this."
"I know, sweetie," Angelica answered. "I know it was an accident and you didn't mean any harm. But you need to be more careful in the future, okay? I think maybe for awhile, skateboarding should only take place in daylight hours."
"But— " Tony stopped his protest, knowing he wouldn't get anywhere with his Mom by arguing about this. And he might not get anywhere with her about this at all. His Mom ran a pretty tight ship around here. He and his Dad knew who was mostly in charge in the Washington household.

Cassandra
Friday, January 7, 2011
Cassandra heard the front door swing open and then a figure appeared in the archway leading into the living room. A tall, well-built black man filled the doorway. In unison Cassandra and Paul called out one another's names.
"Paul!" 
"Cassandra!"

Paul hurried over to the chair where Cassandra sat and said, "How nice to see you. What a surprise!" Cassandra saw the questioning glance he threw his wife and said, "There was a minor skateboarding accident in the theater parking lot and your son was kind enough to bring me here for your wife to check me over."
Angelica looked from her husband to Cassandra and then back at her husband. "You two know each other?" "Yes." Cassandra and Paul once again spoke in unison.
Paul smiled and said, "Cassandra is Jackson's mother-in-law, Maggie's mother."
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"Oh, my goodness!" Angelica exclaimed. I should have known."
Just then there was a loud knock on the door and Angelica said, "Oh, that must be the paramedics." She hurried to the entry hall as Paul said, "Paramedics?"
Cassandra said, "Angelica checked me over, and we thought I was okay but then I had a wave of dizziness d she thought it best that I get checked out at the hospital. She called 911 just a few minutes ago. They really made good time."
Angelica let the paramedics in and quickly gave them an overview 01 the situation. One of the paramedics, an older woman, took out blood pressure cup and squatted down ext to the chair where Cassandra was sitting.
"Ma'am, if you'll extend your arm, I'll take a quick readingn of your blood pressure." Cassandra held her arm and the paramedic wrapped the blood pressure cuff around her upper arm. Cassandra closed her eyes and consciously tried to relax. She had a tendency to elevated blood pressure whenever her pressure was taken.
The woman looked at the reading, then said, "Let me try it again." She loosened the cuff, rearranged it, then once again took a reading. This time, she stood up and went over to where her colleague was talking to Angelica and Paul. Cassandra noticed that Tony was standing in the doorway, taking in everything. She wanted to reassure the boy that she was okay and that he shouldn't beat himself up over what had been an unfortunate accident.
Both paramedics came back over to where Cassandra sat, followed by Angelica.
"Ma'am," the male paramedic said, "I'm sorry to tell you that your blood pressure is alarmingly high, 186 over a 100. And your pulse rate is 117."
"What does that mean?" Cassandra asked, trying to control the tremor in her voice.
"Well, ma'am, we're going to take you into Rivermont Memorial so they can give you a thorough check up. Your blood pressure level puts you in danger of a stroke so we need to take all necessary precautions."
Cassandra nodded and said, "Thank you."
The male paramedic turned toward the collapsed gurney and began to unfold it. Cassandra turned toward where Paul Washington stood a few feet away and said, "Paul, could you please call Jackson and let him know what's going on so he can let Maggie know."
"Certainly," Paul agreed, pulling out his cell phone and moving toward the doorway to make the call.
The two paramedics helped Cassandra onto the gurney and strapped her down. She kept a smile on her face, putting on a brave front, especially for Tony. She looked over toward where Tony was standing and said softly, "Tony, could you please come over here?"
Tony hurried over to Cassandra's side and bent down closer to where she lay on the gurney. Cassandra reached out her hand to Tony and he took her hand in his. "Tony, I know you're beating yourself up over this but please don't. It was an accident."
Tony whispered, "I'm so sorry." He patted her hand and then quickly walked away, but not before Cassandra saw the hint of tears in the boy's eyes.
The paramedics started to push the gurney toward the door, with Angelica and Paul following behind. Angelica had put on her coat and she had her handbag over her shoulder. "I'm going to ride in the ambulance with her, if that's all right," Angelica said to the paramedics, as they reached the door.
"That will be fine, Mrs. Washington," the woman paramedic answered.
Maggie
Friday, January 7, 2011
Maggie and Tessa walked downstairs with Betheny Crowell and Victor Alleman and said good-bye to them at the main entrance to the VAC. For a couple of moments, the two women stood looking out into the night, not speaking.
Then Tessa said, "Maggie, this is a mess. We need to talk about what to do next. Come on back upstairs."
The two women went back to the conference room and sat down.
Maggie said, "I can clean up the coffee things while we talk, if you want."
"No need," Tessa answered, "the cleaning crew will be here around midnight and they can take care of it.
"What do you want me to do about Betheny Crowell?" Maggie asked. But before Tessa could answer, Maggie's phone rang and when she looked down at the LED screen she saw that it was Jackson and he'd added their 911 emergency signal to the call.
"Tessa, I'm sorry -1 have to answer this call from Jackson - he's sent the emergency signal."
"What's up?" Maggie said into the cellphone. She listened intently, not speaking. Finally, she said, "Okay, I'm going to head to the hospital right now. I'll meet you there." She hung up the phone and stood, saying to Tessa, "I'm so sorry but I have to leave. My mother is in the hospital. She had a dizzy spell following an incident where a teen-aged boy accidentally ran into her on his skateboard."
"Oh, Maggie, that's awful. You go ahead and go. And don't worry about Betheny Crowell. I'll take care of tomorrow's meeting with her."
"That may not be necessary, depending on how Mom is. Jackson didn't talk to her - it's an involved story. The boy who knocked her over is the son of one of Jackson's closest colleagues at the paper, Paul Washington. Paul called Jackson at my Mom's request."
Maggie gathered up the iPad then went into her office, Tessa following her. Maggie put on her coat, picked up her purse and briefcase, put the iPad in the briefcase, then turned to her boss. "I'll call you as soon as I find out how Mom is. If things are okay with her, I'll plan to meet you at 11 tomorrow morning at the Crowells."
Tessa started to protest, then stopped, knowing it wouldn't do any good. Maggie had a mind of her own and an overactive work ethic. If her mother was okay, Maggie would continue with her job responsibilities. Tessa trusted Maggie's judgment and knew the younger woman would only show up at the Crowells if her mother wa okay.
Tessa went into her office to get her things, saying to Maggie, "I'll walk out with you. It's so dark out there and neither of us should be wandering around alone in this neighborhood."
Five minutes later, they were in the parking lot. Tessa gave Maggie a hug and said," Talk to you soon. Please give your mother my best and tell her she's in my prayers."
Maggie smiled and said, "And I know that's a powerful place to be."
Maggie got into the Escape and Tessa got into her Corvette. Maggie gave her a wave as she drove off. The hospital was only 10 minutes away from the VAC office, but Maggie could feel the minutes dragging.
She was panicked at the thought that anything could be wrong with Cassandra. Maggie's father had died so long ago and she and her mom had been a tight unit for as long as Maggie could remember.
Cassandra and Maggie had come to Rivermont when Maggie was a baby so the city was the only home she'd ever known. Maggie wasn't sure why Cassandra chose Rivermont. As far as she could tell, Cassandra had had no family or friends there
Cassandra didn't like to talk about her life prior to settling in Rivermont so Maggie knew few details about her father or what kind of life Cassandra had growing up.
All that Maggie knew of her father was that he'd died in an automobile accident shortly after she was born, "back east," as Cassandra called it. Cassandra's stock response to Maggie's questions was "I don't want to talk about it." No matter how Maggie pushed, that was as much as Cassandra would say. So the past and her father remained shrouded in mystery but Maggie's love and respect for her mother prevented her from badgering Cassandra for information.
From her birth certificate, Maggie could tell that her father's name was Richard Bundock, and she had been born in New York City, which she supposed was the "back east" Cassandra always referred to.
Several years ago, with the advent of the people search sites on the Web, Maggie had sporadically searched for Richard Bundock in New York, getting hundreds of results. Even narrowing the names down by age range, there were 200 possibilities. She'd thought about paying for one of the online search services or even hiring a private eye, but something held her back. She would have felt disloyal to her mother, as if she were going behind her mother's back, if she'd done that.
She'd also considered talking to her father-in-law about the mystery of her father, knowing that with his security firm and the resources available at his fingertips, he could have easily found background information on her father. But still that would have seemed like a betrayal of her mother.
Maggie had finally settled on a solution she could live with. If and when she and Jackson had children, which didn't seem any time soon basing on the difficulty she was having in conceiving, she would go to her mother and tell her she was going to gather background information on her father for the child.
By the time she arrived at the hospital, Maggie had convinced herself that her mother was hiding some horrible tragic secret about her father. At least her ricocheting thoughts of her father lessened the anxiety she was feeling about her mother's condition.
The ride to Rivermont Memorial had been swift but loud. For whatever reason, the ambulance driver decided they needed siren, lights and the whoop-whoop sound at intervals. Angelica Washington sat next to her in one of the metal jump seats attached to the sides of the inside of the ambulance.

Angelica leaned over and patted Cassandra's arm. "How are you feeling? Has the dizziness gone away?"

Cassandra tried to open her eyes but quickly shut them again, saying, "The dizziness is still there. I can't open my eyes because the world is tumbling around inside my head. It's unbearable to have my eyes open."

"Then you just keep them closed," Angelica said in a soothing tone. "We'll be at the hospital in just a minute."

Cassandra took a deep breath, then said, "This is so kind of you. To come with me to the hospital."

"I'm happy to do it," Angelica said. "You're Jackson's mother-in-law and Jackson's family to Paul and me."

"He's a wonderful young man," Cassandra said, her eyes still squeezed tightly shut. 

Just then Angelica's cell phone rang. She lifted it out of the case clipped to her waistband and checked the caller id. "It's Jackson," she announced to Cassandra. "Hi, Jackson. I'm here in the ambulance with Maggie's mother. We're almost at Rivermont Memorial."

Angelica listened for a moment, then said, "She's doing okay. But the dizziness is still bad, and she's unable to comfortably open her eyes."

She listened to Jackson's response, then said, "Okay, we'll see you there."

She put the phone back in its case and turned to Cassandra. "Jackson says he'll be at the hospital in a few minutes. He just talked to Maggie and she's on her way also. We'll probably all get there at the same time."

The ambulance slowed, then came to a complete stop. Thankfully, the siren and whoop-whoop also stopped.

Angelica patted Cassandra on the arm and said, "I'm going to get out of the way so that they can get you out of here and into the ER."

"Thank you so much, Angelica. I feel so blessed to have met you and your son. Please, please make sure Tony knows it was an accident and he shouldn't beat himself up over it."

The next half-hour was a blur of activity in Cassandra's mind, none of which she could see because she still couldn’t bear to open her eyes. The ER was slow that night so it only took a few minutes for Cassandra to be set up in an exam room. A woman doctor came in and Cassandra thought her voice sounded as though she was 12 years old. Hopefully, she was a little older than that. This thing of not being able to open her eyes was getting old. 

Her writer’s curiosity about people and events was driving her crazy. She wanted to see the people around her. She wanted to see what the ER room looked like. But every time she tried to open her eyes, the whirling dizziness was overwhelming. 

She did her best to just listen to take in what was happening around her but it was hard to figure out what was going on with only her ears to keep her informed. She thought she could identify four different voices talking above her head. One was the 12-year-old woman doctor, another was a gruff and grizzled sounding male voice, someone older and seemingly the one in charge. Then there were two younger voices, female, that she assumed were nurses, mostly because the grizzled voice called them nurse one and nurse two.

He’s gone so far as to name them that, and Cassandra thought she would laugh out loud.

“Hey, blondie, you’re nurse one, and red, you’re nurse two. Now, nurse one, I need you to go order a CT scan for this lady. And nurse two, go out into the waiting room and see if you can find any folks that belong to her.”

Cassandra was surprised to hear the gruff, gravelly voice address her by name. “Ms. Collier, my name is Dr. Puricelli but you can call me Dom, short for Dominic. Both my first name and last name are too long. I don’t know what my parents were thinking.”

Cassandra could feel herself smiling at his comment. 

“That’s what I like to see, a smiling patient,” said Dr. Puricelli. “Now suppose you tell me exactly what happened to you.”

Cassandra took a deep breath and began her story. “I had a skateboarding accident.” A snort of laughter interrupted her and she laughed in return. “I know that sounds silly, and it wasn’t that I was skateboarding. A young man ran into me as he was skateboarding on a parking lot. It was totally an accident, and he feels terrible about it. Anyway, I was knocked unconscious for a moment. I thought I was fine and wouldn’t let him call 911. But he insisted on taking me across the street to his house. His mom is a nurse and he wanted her to check me out. We did that and his mom, Angelica Washington, a wonderful woman, thought I was okay and then I had a major attack of dizziness, and she called the paramedics. They said my blood pressure and pulse rate were elevated and so here I am.”

Maggie

Saturday, January, 2011 

After Midnight
Maggie and Jackson were standing at the Emergency Room reception desk, trying to find out what was going on with Cassandra. So far, no one had been able to answer their questions. Then a tiny red-headed young woman, dressed in Snoopy scrubs emerged from the double doors that led to the ER exam rooms and looked around the waiting room. She came up to the reception desk and spoke to the nurse sitting there.

“I’m looking for any family members of” she glanced down at the yellow post-it in her hand, “Ms. Collier.”

“That’s my mother,” Maggie said. “How is she? May we see her?”

The little redhead nodded and said, “Yes, of course. If you’ll just follow me.”

Maggie and Jackson followws behind the nurse agan again Maggie asked, “How is she?”

“I’ll let the doctor tell you that.” The nurse led them to an exam room at the end of the hall and opened the door to let them enter. She came in behind them and said, Dr. Puricelli, this is Ms. Collier’s daughter.”

Maggie saw a tall, burly man with gray hair and a gray mustache and beard standing next to a hospital gurney on which her mother lay. The man walked toward Maggie and Jackson, a hand outstretched, saying, “I’m Dr Puricelli, the neurologist on call tonight.”

Maggie shook the doctor’s hand, her hand getting lost in his big bear-like paw, and said, 
I’m Maggie Bell, Ms. Collier’s daughter.” The doctor turned then to Jackson, hand outstretched again. As Jackson shook the doctor’s hand, he said, “I’m Jackson Bell, Maggie’s husband and Cassandra’s son-in-law.”

“Cassandra, hmm. What a lovely name,” Dr. Puricelli said, going back over to stand by Cassandra. “Ms. Collier, you didn’t tell me you had such an enchanting name.”

Maggie and Jackson exchanged quizzical looks, as if they were both thinking what an unusual doctor this was.

Cassandra smiled but didn't say anything.
Dr. Puricelli said, "Folks, I'm concerned about this dizziness and so I've ordered a CT scan. We'll see what the results are from that and then we'll go from there."
Just then, there was a knock on the door to the ER cubicle and it opened revealing a young man in a navy blue uniform. On the pocket of the uniform shirt were the embroidered words, "Rivermont Memorial Hospital." He wore an employee badge with the title transporter in large letters.
"Mom, your transporter is here," Maggie said with a chuckle.
Cassandra laughed in return, saying "And where am I going to be transported to?"
"Unfortunately, only to have your CT scan done," Dr. Puricelli said.
Maggie leaned over and kissed her mom on the cheek, and said, "You take care. Jackson and I will be right here waiting for you to return."
"Thanks, sweetie," Cassandra answered.
With the help of a nurse's aid who had accompanied him, the young man moved Cassandra out of the ER cubicle and down the hall.
Dr. Puricelli told them they could wait either in the cubicle or in the waiting room, and they chose to stay there in the cubicle. The waiting room was filled to capacity on the Friday night, and the noise of so many different conversations was disconcerting.
The doctor left, saying he'd return when the results of Cassandra's CT scan were available.
There were two straight-backed chairs in the ER cubicle and Maggie and Jackson sat down next to each other.
"Don't worry, Mags," Jackson said, draping his arm around her shoulder and giving her a squeeze. "Your mom is a tough one, and very healthy."
"I know," Maggie agreed, "but the dizziness is a scary thing."
They sat there in silence for a few moments, then Jackson said, "I got a lead on an interesting story today. You want to hear about it?"
"Sure," Maggie said. "I have an interesting thing to tell you, too."
"Paul Washington was working on story about a guy who got shot. The police are trying to determine if it was suicide or if the woman with the guy shot him, either deliberately or in self-defense. But the interesting part is that I know the woman, and her parents are good friends with my parents." Jackson paused, waiting for Maggie's to say something, but he was surprised at the vehemence of her reaction.
"You've got to be kidding! You're talking about Betheny Crowell?"
'Yes, but how did you know about that?" Jackson asked.
'You won't believe this coincidence, but Tessa and I met with Betheny Crowell and her attorney today at the VAC. The police recommended that we take her as a client."
'Wow, that is a coincidence. Although maybe not so much, when I think about it. You and probably cross paths with the same people more than we realize. So is she going to be your client?"
'I think so," Maggie answered. "I was getting some weird vibes from her, though. And hardly anyone has ever brought their attorney with them to the VAC -1 don't know what that's all about."
"Well," Jackson sat there thinking for a moment, then said, "I know VAC doesn't have a confidentiality component but I feel like we really shouldn't discuss this. What do you think?"
Maggie considered what Jackson had said, and replied, "I think I agree with you. This is the first time we've both been involved in the same situation. I don't want to know what you and Paul find, at least not before it's published in the Times, and 1 don't feel it's appropriate for me to share with you any of the details of my interactions with Ms. Crowell."
"It's a deal," Jackson said.
"So now what do we talk about," Maggie asked with a twinkle in her eye.
"We'll think of something." They smiled at each other.
The door to the ER cubicle opened and the transport person wheeled Cassandra's gurney back into the room. Following closely behind was Dr. Puricelli. The transporter left, and the doctor flipped through Cassandra's chart.
"Mr. and Mrs. Bell, the CT scan didn't reveal any injury or abnormalities. However, Ms. Collier is still suffering from the dizziness and is unable to open her eyes without being overwhelmed by dizziness. So I'd like to keep Ms. Collier overnight and see where we stand in the morning."
A small sigh from Cassandra brought Maggie over to her side. "I'm sorry, Mom. I know how you feel."
Dr. Puricelli said goodbye, promising Cassandra that he would stop back later to check on her and left the cubicle. Jackson joined Maggie at the side of the gurney. Maggie was holding Cassandra's hand and smiling down into her mother's face.
"Tell you what, Mom. I'll go to your house to pick up some of your things and this handsome man standing here will stay behind to entertain you."
"I can go," Jackson offered.
"Thanks for the offer, sweetie, but I'm not sure you'd know what to bring Mom."
Jackson considered that for a moment, then said, "Yeah, you're right. I wouldn't bring the right things, and I'd definitely bring the wrong things, much as I'd try. You want me to ride along with you?"
"Thanks but I'd rather you entertained this lady here."
Jackson glanced over at his mother-in-law and said, "I'm just going to walk Maggie out to her car. I'll be right
back."
.

Cassandra smiled up in his direction, eye still tightly shut and said, "Thanks to both of you. I don't know what I'd do without you." Jackson and Maggie left the cubicle and walked out through the waiting room and into the parking garage to her car.
"Be careful, Mags," Jackson said. "I don't like you running around in the middle of the night." He paused, then said, "You wait right here. I'll run back in and tell Cassandra we're both going. You can get in the passenger side, and I'll drive"
Maggie started to protest that she'd be fine then just shook her head. She knew it would be useless to argue with Jackson especially about this. He was protective of her, sometimes she thought overly so, but she appreciated his concern for her.

Maggie unlocked the Escape, got in the passenger side and turned on the radio and tuned to an all-news station. She was sort of a news junkie, and it had been several hours since her last news fix.
From the newscaster's nonchalant tone, she surmised that not much was going on in the world. She turned to a classical music station and leaned back in the seat, closed her eyes and let the music wash over her. 

She was seriously panicked about her mother. All her life, Cassandra had been pretty much her whole family. Now she had Jack and his family but still Cassandra was her mother. Cassandra and Jack were the two most important people to her in the world. Maggie was glad that she would never have to choose between them. Each of them loved her and each other and Maggie knew how fortunate she was. Maggie considered whether she wanted to spend the night at the hospital with her mother and decided that was what she wanted to do. Jack would worry about her and would probably end up staying with her. 

All of a sudden, Maggie sat upright in the seat, remembering her appointment tomorrow, today actually, with Betheny Crowell. She dug her cell phone out of her handbag and punched in the speed dial code for Tessa's phone. It was after midnight and she hated to wake her boss but she had to let her know she wouldn't be able to meet with Betheny Crowell. Tessa would have to do it herself or assign it to one of the boys. It was high time Patrick and Clint pulled their fair share of work.

A groggy voice answered, "Hello? Maggie, is that you? What's wrong?"

"I'm so sorry to wake you, Tessa, but the doctor is keeping my mom overnight in the hospital. So I'm not going to be able to meet with Betheny Crowell tomorrow -- I mean today."

"How is your mother?" Tessa asked.

"She's suffering from intense dizziness, and she's unable to open her eyes because the world whirls around in front of her when she does. They did some tests but couldn't find anything. So they're going to do some more tests tomorrow and she has to spend the night here. I'm going to convince her and Jackson to let me stay the night with her."

"Don't worry about the appointment with Betheny Crowell. I'm feeling feisty enough to assign her case to both Patrick and Clint. I think I'm tired of the games they've been playing with me. Of course, I'll sit in on the appointment and monitor what they're doing. I would never throw a client to the wolves, so to speak. But the time has come to get rid of those two albatrosses and get some capable staff members in here. I just don't care about their political connections any more. We have a responsibility to victims here, and I'm not going to let the boys mess with that anymore."

Tessa took a deep breath, then continued, "Sorry about my outburst. I didn't mean to get on my soapbox like that. But I've had enough. And if the powers that be don't like it, I still have that offer of a teaching job at the Wash. U school of social work in St. Louis."

"Tessa, you can't leave me!" Maggie hoped Tessa's was an idle threat. She couldn't conceive of the VAC without its founding mother.

Jackson tapped on the passenger window, causing Maggie to jump and drop her phone. She unlocked the car, then fumbled around on the floor, looking for her iPhone and hoping her clumsiness hadn't damaged her beloved phone.

She found it under the seat and quickly put it to her ear, saying, "Tessa? Tessa? Are you still there. I'm so sorry. Being the klutz that I am, I dropped the phone." As she was speaking, Jackson was getting into the driver's seat. He looked at Maggie and she nodded and he started the Escape and drove out of the hospital parking garage..

Maggie ended the call with Tessa, promising to let her know how Cassandra was doing. "I had forgotten about my appointment with Betheny Crowell tomorrow so I called Tessa to see if she could handle it. And one way or another, she will."

Maggie stopped talking when she noticed that Jackson was frowning and seemed engrossed in his own thoughts. "What's up?" she asked.

Jackson glanced over at her, then turned his attention back to his driving. He was just getting to the on-ramp of the highway near Cassandra's home, and he concentrated on getting onto the highway before answering Maggie.

"Mags, your mom said something really strange when I went back into her room to tell her I was going with you instead of waiting there with her. She was upset and she begged me to tell you not to look at any of her mail lying on the kitchen counter. She said I had to make sure you didn't read anything, that you left everything there alone, untouched. Of course, I promised I would tell you. But then she made me promise that I would keep you from reading her mail. It was really weird. I've never seen your mom like that. Again, I promised her, told her I wouldn't let you read anything but even when I left, she was still saying, 'You have to keep Maggie from reading any of the mail on the counter.'  Strangest thing." Jackson shook his head back and forth a couple of times as he said those words. Then he asked, "Do you have any idea what it could be that she doesn't want you to read?"

"Not a clue," Maggie answered. "I pretty much thought Mom and her life were an open book. I can't remember her ever keeping anything secret from me. The only thing she's never talked to me about was my father. She refuses to talk about him or tell me anything about him, and she won't tell me why. The only thing she ever told me was that he died in an automobile accident before I was born. And that's the sum total of my knowledge of my father." She sighed and leaned her head back against the headrest.
Cassandra

Saturday, January 8, 2011

After Midnight

Cassandra lay in the hospital bed, silently crying, the eyes slipping down her cheeks unheeded. The hospital was quiet, with only a few night sounds, soft footsteps in the hall, the ding of the elevator, a faint beeping of some monitor left unattended. 

What she had feared most in her life was about to happen. No matter how she begged Jackson to keep Maggie from reading any of the papers lying on her kitchen counter, she knew that both Maggie and Jackson would read the telegram, at least. It was so prominent there, its yellow paper standing out against the other white envelopes and bills. She'd never before received a telegram -- she guessed she'd thought they didn't exist anymore in this day of e-mail and instant messaging. But evidently they did. 

Around noon today, no yesterday, Cassandra thought to herself, the doorbell had rung. Cassandra had gone to the front door and looked through the side ight  glass to see a uniformed man standing there, holding a yellow envelope in one hand and some kind of techy device in the other hand. In front of her house was a car with the Western Union logo on the door. 

She opened the door and said, "May I help you?"

"Good afternoon. I'm from Western Union, and I have a telegram for Mrs. Cassandra Collier at this address? Are you Mrs. Collier?"

Heart in her throat, Cassandra nodded, and said, "Yes, I'm Cassandra Collier." She couldn't imagine who might be sending her a telegram. The only place she'd seen a telegram was in movies or on television, mainly in war movies where families were notified of the death of loved ones.

The man handed Cassandra the device that had a small stylus attached and said, "If you'll just sign on this line here, please."

Cassandra took the electronic device and the stylus and signed her name as best she could. To her, the signature looked like a child's scrawl, rather than her usual neat and tidy penmanship.

She handed the device back to the man, and in return, he handed her the telegram. He tipped his hat to her and said, "Have a nice day, ma'am." He turned and walked up the sidewalk to the driveway and then out into the street. Cassandra stood there watching him, postponing the moment when she had to open the telegram. She wished she could permanently postpone that moment. 

The man drove away, and reluctantly, Cassandra went back into the house. She walked into the kitchen and placed the telegram squarely in the middle of the kitchen counter in the midst of an accumulation of bills and papers. For a few moments, she stood there staring at it. Then she poured herself a cup of coffee from the Mr. Coffee coffee maker she kept on all day. She took her time adding cream and sugar. Finally, she could delay no longer. She picked up the yellow envelope and turned it over and over in her hands, looking for some clue as to the sender.

Carefully, she slid a fingernail under the flap and opened the envelope. She drew out the folded page¸ then stopped, still not wanting to know what the message said.

Jackson and Maggie

Saturday, January 8, 2011

After Midnight

Jackson had often wondered why Maggie hadn’t been more insistent with her mother to tell her about her father.  He couldn’t imagine what it must feel like to know nothing about your father. 

Jackson was as close to his father as a son could get. Lawrence Bell had been and still was the best father any son or daughter could want. And Alicia Bell was a caring, devoted mother. Jackson and Toby and their sister Emily had grown up in a close, loving family environment. 

Of the three Bell children, only one had had a difficult life was Emily, the baby of the family. By the age of thirty, she’d had two failed marriages, a precious daughter named Lucia, now five years old and nicknamed Lucy, and a serious drug addiction. Jackson had often wondered why he and his brother Toby had turned out so normal, relatively speaking, and Emily had had such a ruined tragic life.

Jackson’s life hadn’t been all smooth sailing. He’d been married once before, to a girl he’d met at a wild fraternity party at Mizzou when he was a senior. They’d had a drunken hook-up in his room towards the end of the party. The next morning, he’d been hung over and sick with remorse and guilt and the feeling that he’s betrayed Maggie. Before he left for Mizzou, with Maggie attending Wash U, she had suggested that they should each feel free to date others while they were away at school. Both of them had dated sporadically, nothing serious and had spent time together when they were both back in Rivermont during summer vacation and holidays.

The girl’s name was Leila and she was known on campus as somewhat of a party girl. But Jackson had been a gentleman that morning, insisting on driving her back to her sorority house. On the drive, she’d draped an arm around his shoulders and told him what a wonderful time she’d had. Jackson had been unable to remember much of what happened but didn’t share that fact with Leila. Stopped in front of the sorority house, motot running, Jackson said good-bye to Leila. She had reached over and planted a serious kiss on his lips. He hadn’t kissed her back but Leila didn’t seem to notice. She’d said bye, then turned back and said, “I’ll call you and we’ll get together again.” Just what Jackson hadn’t wanted to hear.

He’d driven away, Leila’s parting words echoing in his ears. True to her word, Leila had called the next day, suggesting they meet at one of the local college hangouts. Jackson had told her he was buried in studying and couldn’t afford to take any time out. Leila had pouted and had aid petulantly, “I’m good for a lay but not for a date?” Jackson had said that wasn’t the case at all. He was just knee-deep in projects and had no free time.

Every few days, Leila would call, and he’d put her off. One night, she showed up at the fraternity house, and he had no way to avoid her. She’d been subdued and had asked him to go for a walk. They’d gone down the street to a small park, what students called a pocket park. During their walk, she’d been silent, and Jackson had filled the silence with details of the senior project he was just finishing up. As he talked, he began to get a queasy feeling. Something was wrong with Leila, and he was afraid he knew what it was. He was afraid of what she was going to tell him.

They reached the park, and Leila sat down on the wooden bench that was its centerpiece. Jackson stood in front of her, not wanting to sit down next to her.

She looked up at him, and said quietly, “You’ve guessed, haven’t you?”

Jackson nodded as he said, “You’re pregnant?”

She nodded in return, lowering her head.

He hesitated, not knowing how to say the hateful thing he had to say. But there was no other way. “And you’re sure it’s mine?”

That had brought her head up, and he saw a furious look on her face. “So that’s what you think of me?” Her tone carried hatred but also a tone of despair.

“I’m sorry,” Jackson said, “but I had to ask. You know I had to ask.”

Slowly, Leila nodded her head, once again looking down at her lap.

Again, Jackson felt he had to ask a difficult question. “How do you know? Are you sure?”

Again, Leila glared at him. Abruptly she stood up, and moved in close. Chin up, eyes staring, she said, “I did tow of those freaking home pregnancy tests. Then this afternoon, I went to the student clinic, and they did a test. So yes, I’m officially pregnant.”

Jackson began to pace back and forth in front of the bench, careful to keep his distance from Leila. 

Finally, his voice barely audible, he asked, “What do you want to do?”

At first, Leila didn’t answer. She sat back down on the bench and buried her face in her hands. Jackson couldn’t tell whether she was truly crying or just pretending to cry. That thought brought him up short, as he realized he didn’t trust this woman, didn’t like this woman.

She uncovered her face, and he saw she hadn’t been crying. For some reason, that made him feel better, as if perhaps he would be able to read her and not let himself be bamboozled by her.

“I won’t have an abortion.” Her words were strong and her gaze into his eyes was clear.

Jackson paused before he said anything. Then he said, from his heart, “That’s good.”

For a moment, they stared at one another. Then Jackson sat down on the bench next to Leila, but not close enough for their bodies to touch. 

“Do you want to get married?” Jackson said the words to the space in front of where he sat, not to Leila.

He heard her sigh deeply and he turned to look at her. This time, he saw tears brimming in her eyes.

ihe silence stretched between them. They both sat motionless on the park bench, staring straight ahead.
Finally Jackson spoke, in a voice so low that it was almost a whisper. "Do you want to get married?" Jackson said the words to the space in front of where he sat, not to Leila.
He heard her sigh deeply and he turned to look at her. This time, he saw tears brimming in her eyes.
"No, I don't want to get married..." as Leila said the words, she paused long enough for Jackson to feel a great whoosh of relief before she continued. "But I guess we have to."
The relief Jackson had felt disappeared instantly. He could hear a roar in his ears, drowning out everything. What was he going to do? What could he do? He felt himself turning cold inside even though it was beautiful spring day. Time had slowed to almost a standstill. Still neither of them spoke. Finally after what seemed like forever, Jackson stood up and said in Leila's direction, "I need to go make some plans and figure things out. I'll call you when I know what we're going to do." With that he strode away without a backward glance at Leila.
He took the long way back to the fraternity house, heavy with fear and disappointment and grief. His shiny new future was now tarnished and destroyed. He couldn't bear to think about how Maggie would react. This would hurt her so badly.
That night he drove back to Rivermont, desperate to talk to his parents. He didn't call to tell them he was on his way. He just showed up after midnight. When his father came downstairs to see who had come in, Jackson, to his shame, burst into tears right where he stood in the front entrance hall. Alicia Bell joined her husband and son and took Jackson in her arms and let him cry.
Finally, Jackson was able to get a grip on himself and he led his mom and dad into the living room. He sat downon one of the long sofas and his parents sat down next to him, each draping an arm around his shoulders.
"All right, son, tell us what's going on. You know we love you, and we're here for you," his father said.
Those words brought a lump to Jackson's throat and it was a moment before he could say anything. Then the words tumbled out, willy-nilly.
"I'm so sorry. I've screwed up so badly. I have to get married. I don't know what else to do. I'm so sorry." Alicia and Lawrence looked at one another over Jackson's head and each could see the sorry in the other's eyes. "Is it Maggie?" Alicia asked gently, hopefully. "No, Mom, it's not. It's another girl from school." Alicia sighed but didn't say anything.
Lawrence cleared his throat and said tentatively, "Son, are you sure..." his voice trailed off and Jackson picked up the sentence.
"Dad, I'm not sure of anything. She says it's my baby, and I have to believe that. Neither of us would consider an abortion and I couldn't bear to give away a child of mine. So I guess marriage is the only option."

Alicia looked away and dabbed at her eyes. Her boy was hurting and she didn t know what to do. Putting a smile on her face, she patted Jackson on the back, then stood up.
"Hey, you two. Let's go into the kitchen and raid the refrigerator. I bought a new flavor of ice cream today and I'm anxious for you all to try it."
Jackson and Lawrence exchanged eye rolls out of Alicia's view but obediently followed her into the kitchen. A few minutes later, they were gathered around the kitchen table, bowls of chocolate peppermint ice cream in front of them. An inveterate list-maker, Alicia had a pad of paper and a pen in front of her also.
"We'll have to make plans. The girl's name?" she asked, pen poised over the pad of paper. "Leila Williamson," Jackson answered, a spoonful of ice cream just about to go into his mouth. "Is she from Rivermont?" Alicia asked.
"No, Kansas City. She lives with her grandmother. Her parents - I'm not sure about her parents. I only know she lives with her grandmother in Kansas City."
Neither Lawrence nor Alicia remarked on the fact that Jackson was planning to marry someone about whom he knew next to nothing.
For the next half hour, the three of them sat there, painfully trying to plan a wedding. Finally, Jackson interrupted him mother's ideas, and said, "Mom, Dad, if you don't mind, I would like to not have a wedding. I'd like to just go to a justice of the peace, just the two of us, no family, no friends, nothing."
"But Jackson," his mother started to protest. Lawrence reached across the table and took her hand. "Sweetheart, let's do what our boy wants."
Jackson said, "Thanks, Dad. I appreciate that."

And so, two weeks later, the day after Jackson's graduation with honors from the Mizzou School of Journalism, Jackson Bell married Leila Williamson in the parlor of a justice of the peace on the outskirts of Rivermont, with no family or friends of either the bride or groom present.
For the first few months of their marriage, Jackson and Leila lived with the Bells. Jackson had started his new job as a junior reporter at the Rivermont Times. As soon as he could afford it, he rented a small one-bedroom apartment foi them downtown, a few blocks from the newspaper. Leila, still a year short of finishing her degree, had gotten a job as a teller at a nearby bank. Jackson had assured her that somehow they'd manage for her to finish her degree. Their relationship was a tenuous one at best.
It had taken months for them to consummate the marriage. Leila had finally threatened to walk out the door and never let him see their baby if he didn't treat her like a real wife.
So Jackson convinced himself to make love to Leila. It had turned out okay and from that day, they'd managed to cobble together an acceptable although not happy relationship.

So Jackson convinced himself to make love to Leila. It had turned out okay and from that day, they d managed to cobble together an acceptable and bearable though not happy relationship.
For Jackson, the happiest day of this life was the day that his daughter Cookie was born. The baby was premature and spent the first month of her life in a glass-enclosed incubator. In retrospect, Jackson realized that that month of desperate uncertainty about the fate of their tiny daughter was the only time that there was any real closeness or caring between Leila and him. They were both frightened at the thought of losing the baby and spent every day at the neonatal unit at Rivermont Memorial.
Eventually, Cookie, as they nicknamed her, in place of the more formal Cornelia, came home and Jackson and Leila cherished their daughter. She was a darling, really good baby and the Bells loved their granddaughter.
But as time passed, it became apparent that Leila was emotionally unstable, and Jackson eventually realized he could no longer be married to her. He shared custody of Cookie with Leila, and the girl much of her time either with her father or with her Bell grandparents.
As part of the divorce settlement, Alicia had settled a great deal of money on Leila but in her wise and prudent way, had set the money up in an irrevocable trust that paid Leila a substantial amount monthly. But Leila always managed to overspend her allowance and frequently came begging to Jackson or Alicia for more money, claiming she didn't have enough money to keep Cookie in food and clothes. Maggie loved Cookie and loved having the girl stay with them. But Leila's antics were one of the few thorns in the Bell's life, senior and junior Bells.
Jackson's niece Lucy and Cookie were close in age and got along well. Maggie marveled that the girls could come from such dysfunctional homes and still be so normal and loving and fun to be with. Lucia, Lucy for short, was Emily's daughter. Jackson's sister Emily was the disappointment of the family. No matter what they did, she would mess up. She married young and badly, and did the alcohol and drug thing. She loves Lucy but struggles to take care of her. Jackson knew how much she loved Lucy and how she struggled to take care of her daughter. He'd always tried to be there for the two of them. Lucy spent more time with her Bell grandparents and Jackson and Maggie than she did with her own mother. Jackson thought of Emily as a tragic, lost figure, always trying but never succeeding.
Jackson and Maggie were anxious to have a child of their own but after five years of marriage, they were still trying. Two years ago, they'd started down the fertility treatment path and h hadn't been a run journey. Jackson's sperm had been tested and the little swimmers proved to be strong and fast so there was no issue there.
Maggie had been tested and poked and prodded and was now on a course of hormones that did wretched things to her moods. The next step in the process was in vitro fertilization and they were getting ready to start that. Fortunately, both Maggie and Jackson were able to keep their sense of humor and perspective about what they were going through Maggie had known people whose marriages crashed and burned because of fertility issues. Maggie and Jackson were willing to adopt if the in vitro didn't work. They figured they'd try a ocuple of cycles because they'd come this far but after that they'd concentrate on adoption. They'd applied with one of the agencies n Rivermont right about the same time they'd started down the fertility path, priding themselves on their open-mindedness and willingness to consider all options.
Jackson and Maggie Saturday, January 8,2011 After Midnight
It only took 15 minutes to get to Cassandra's house but as they drove, Maggie felt tike it kept wondering what her mother was so desperate to keep her from reading. Maggie her own name that the first thing she and Jackson were going to do when they wen i would be to read every niece of mail on the kitchen counter.

And they wouldn't do it out of frivolous curiosity or nosiness but out of a deep and abiding love and concern for Cassandra. Maggie had always known how fortunate she was to have such a great mother. Growing up, her friends had complained to her about their mothers and the battles they waged with them. Maggie never had any war stories to share, and she knew her friends envied her the good relationship she had with her mother.
The icing on the cake so to speak had been the strong bonds that had formed between Cassandra and Jackson. He'd often told Maggie that he loved her mother as much as he did his own. The two of them were cute together, with nicknames and inside jokes. But Maggie never felt left out. She enjoyed their byplay and just shook her head and grinned when they went off on one of their tangents. Because Cassandra had been such a magnificent mother, Maggie hadn't missed having a father as much as she might have had Cassandra been a lesser person.
At last they reached Cassandra's house. Jackson pulled into the driveway and parked the car. Maggie dug in her handbag for her key ring. She'd always had a key to her mother's house and Cassandra had always had a key to Maggie and Jackson's downtown condo and the A-frame at Edelweiss.

Cassandra's house had a motion sensor light over the garage door, and it came on now, shining brightly down on them. They walked up the cobblestone sidewalk to the front door, arm in arm. Maggie unlocked the door, and they went inside. The house was a split foyer style, with a family room and bedroom on the lower level and the living room, dining room, kitchen and two more bedrooms on the upper level. Recently, Cassandra had installed beautiful wooden floors in the living room and dining room, in an exotic wood with a name Maggie could never remember – something like tiger wood but that couldn't really be it.

Cassandra's cat Bijou met them at the front door with a loud yowl. Maggie bent down and picked her up, cuddling her in her arms.

"I know, you miss your mother. But don’t' worry. I promise she'll be find and will be home soon." Bijou gave another yowl, then licked Maggie's cheek. "Yes, you're a beauty," Maggie said to the cream and chocolate Himalayan with an attitude.

Jackson and Maggie, with Bijou in her arms, walked up the half flight of stairs into the dining room and then into the kitchen. Without a word, they both walked over to the long counter. In the middle of the counter was a messy stack of mail and other papers. Prominently visible on the top of the stack was a yellow telegram and matching envelope.

Maggie bent down and gently set Bijou on the kitchen floor, then turned to Jackson and said, "Would you mind reading it to me? I'm thinking that's probably what she didn't want me to see and that scares me."

Jackson nodded and picked up the telegram. But before he read it, he asked "Are you sure you want me to read this to you? Would you rather have me read it and decide if you'd want to know what it says?"

Maggie hesitated, considering his offer. Then she slowly shook her head as she answered. "Nah, I'm not quite that much of a chicken. Go ahead. I'm ready for whatever it is."

Jackson quickly skimmed the message and made a soft grunting sound of surprise. 

"Read it," Maggie demanded, reaching out a hand as if she were going to grab it from him if he didn't read it immediately.

He quirked an eyebrow at her, then cleared his throat and said, "Mags, this is something bad and big." Before she could say anything in response to his warning, he began to read.

"Dear Mrs. Bundock—"

Maggie interrupted him with a snorted "Bundock? Who the hell is Mrs. Bundock?"

Jackson ignored her question and continued to read. "We regret to tell you that we have disturbing news about your husband Richard Taylor Bundock. Earlier today, we were informed by the prison warden at Mountainview Penitentiary that Bundock escaped from the prison last night. We wanted you to be prepared should Bundock somehow locate you. As part of the WITSEC witness protection program, your identity should be unavailable to him. But as you know from past experience, Bundock has somehow managed to gain access to information that he shouldn’t have been able to access."

Jackson stopped reading and looked at Maggie. "Did you know anything about this?"

"Absolutely not!" Maggie almost shouted her response. "What is this nonsense? My father died before I was born. And where did the name Bundock come from. This is some mistake or mix-up. No wonder Mom didn't want us to read it. She knew we'd freak out and there's no reason because it's a mistake."

For a moment, Jackson didn't respond. Then he said, “Yes, that’s it. It must be a mistake. Do you want me to read the rest of the telegram?”

Maggie nodded and Jackson began to read.

“One of our US Marshalls will be contacting you in person within the next day or two. We plan to put a surveillance team on you and your daughter in case Bundock makes an attempt to contact you. If you have questions or concerns, please feel free to contact our office at 303-346-9000. It’s signed by the US Marnalls office in Boston, Massachusetts. ”

“I have to talk to Mom about this. She has to tell me it’s a mistake.”

“Right,” Jackson agreed. “Tell you what. Why don’t you gather up the things for your Mom while I check out this Bundock character on the Internet?”

“Sounds like a plan,” Maggie replied, trying to put a note of enthusiasm in her voice but failing miserably. She took the list from her jacket pocket and headed off in the direction of her mother’s bedroom.

In the meantime, Jackson sat down at the kitchen table and placed the telegram in front of him. He read through it once more, then took out his iPhone. He did a Google search and was shocked at the number of results he received when he typed in the name Richard Taylor Bundock. In amazement, he scrolled down page after page of search results. Thirty-five years ago, this had been the story of the decade. With the advent of the Internet details of the crimes had been added to various news and law enforcement sites. Jackson began methodically reading through the articles from sites that he trusted, avoiding the tabloid and gossip-mongering sites.

Each article or report he read added to his horror at the reality of this person.

Richard Taylor Bundock had been a serial killer -- a vicious killer of young prostitutes that he picked up on street corners of Boston.

Boston? Jackson had always heard from Cassandra that she and Maggie had moved to Rivermont from New York City.

Bundock had been captured, tried, convicted and sentenced to life in prison without parole. He had spent the first 10 years of his sentence in an Alabama Federal prison in Alabama but after multiple escape attemtps, had been transferred to Mountainview, a maximum security facility from which no one ever escaped. Until now, Jackson thought.

One of the recent speculative, retrospective articles had compared Bundock to the likes of, among others, Ted Bundy, the Dexter character on cable TV and the Craigslist killer. All were charming, personable specimens of masculinity.

One of the articles mentioned that supposedly Bundock had a wife and infant child who had been placed into the witness protection program, following his arrest. Evidently, Bundock’s wife had been a key component in his arrest. No names of his family were provided. When Jackson read the words “infant child,” a chill had run through him. Was there any possibility that this might be true, might not be some kind of macabre mistake?

Jackson read on, horrified at the descriptions of the murders attributed to Bundock. His conviction was based on only one of the murders, the only one where police were able to gather sufficient evidence, including an eyewitness. The witness, an off-duty police officer, saw Bundock pick up the prostitute in the dock area of downtown Boston. He followed the pair to an abandoned warehouse, also in the dock area. Before the cop was able to stop him, the man had garroted the prostitute. The cop had knocked Bundock over the head with his gun and the man fell to the ground. The policeman called 911, then turned his attention to the woman on the ground. But it was too late. She was dead. 

Bundock’s trial was over in two days. No matter how the defense tried to invalidate the policeman, his testimony and his reputation held up. The prosecution was not  allowed by the judge to introduce evidence they’d uncovered of other murders committed by Bundock. But the one murder was enough to get him sentenced to life in prison without parole. The jury expressed its wish that should the death penalty be reinstated in the state, that Bundock’s sentence be modified to death.

Jackson walked toward Cassandra’s bedroom to find Maggie, wishing he didn’t have to deliver such devastating news to his wife. He found her  just coming into the hall, an overnight bag swung over one shoulder, and Cassandra’s laptop slung over the other.

“I think I have everything she wanted. If not, I can come back later today to get it. But maybe they’ll let her  come home today.”

Jackson took the two bags from Maggie and led her into the living room. He set the down bags, then eased his wife down on the sofa and sat down beside her.

“Mags, I’m afraid there might be something to this.” At her cry of dismay, Jackson soothed her with, “Now, don’t freak out just yet. I’ve been doing a lot of reading and there’s a possibility –“ He broke off at another outcry from Maggie. “The newspaper articles say that Bundock had a wife and baby daughter who had been put into witness protection. The timing is right. It happened when you were a baby.”

“Oh, Jackson, how could Mom have kept this from me?”

“I’m sure she was just trying to protect you, sweetheart. It’s a godawful story. This man, Richard Taylor Bundock, was considered an upstanding pillar of society. He was a high school science teacher in the Boston inner city schools, a challenging undertaking at best. All reports were that he was a good man who loved his pregnant wife and was dedicated to his work with the underachieving students in his classes. From all accounts, no one believed the charges, including his wife. But the off-duty policeman’s eyewitness account couldn’t be disbelieved. So the wife and baby, no sex is mentioned in the articles, were put into witness protection.”

“But why witness protection? If the man was in jail and then prison, he couldn’t hurt them?”

“From what the news articles say, the authorities arranged for witness protection, the opportunity for the woman and child to start a new life without the stigma of a murderer as a husband and father. The wife provided depositions about her husband and also provided his private papers and documents from a safe hidden in the basement of their house. He evidently kept photos and souvenirs of his atrocities.”

Maggie covered her eyes and began to cry. Jackson put his arm around his wife and pulled her in close to him. After a few moments, Maggie stood up and told Jackson she'd be right back. She down the hall and into the powder .Jackson heard the water running and a few minutes later, Maggie returned, a box of tissues clutched tightly in her hands.

She sat beside Jackson and once again leaned into him. They sat in silence for a few moments, then Jackson said, "What would you think about not telling your mother we read the telegram? At least not until she's home."

Maggie opened her mouth to protest against Jackson's suggestion then changed her mind. Maggie accepted the fact that Cassandra was in no condition to do battle with her daughter.

"I think that's an excellent suggestion, if we can pull it off, that is," She thought for a moment, then said, "You can tell Mom that we didn't even go into the kitchen. None of the things she wanted me to bring were in the kitchen so there was no reason why we would have gone in there."

"Sounds like a plan," Jackson said. He gave Maggie a squeeze, then stood up. "Let’s get back to the hospital with your mother's things. I'm about to fall asleep sitting here." He looked at his watch and groaned. "It's almost 2 a.m. It'll be after three at the earliest by the time we get home."

Maggie stood up also, and said, "I forgot all about Samson – he must be desperate to go outside."

"I got it covered," Jackson said with a smile. "I called Harvey and asked if Samson could have a sleepover." Harvey was their next door neighbor at Edelweiss, a retired bus driver, who was pals with Samson.

"You think of everything. Does this mean we could go to the loft instead of Edelweiss?" Maggie asked, fatigue creeping into her voice.

"Definitely," Jackson said. "Now, let's get out of here." He picked up the bags and headed to the front door, then stopped. He set the bags down next to the front door and said, "I'll just go back into the kitchen and make sure we left things the way we found them."

Maggie agreed and sat down on the bench by the front door to wait for Jackson.

A few minutes later, he emerged from the kitchen and went over to the front to pick up the things for Cassandra. "I think it looks like we found it, at least I hope it does. Keep your fingers crossed. Now, let's go, Mrs. Bell."

"Okey-dokey, Mr. Bell."

Cassandra
Saturday, January 8, 2011 

After Midnight
A sharp knock on the hospital room door shocked Cassandra out of her thoughts. She shook head as if to clear it, then took a slow, deep breath before answering. Another rap sounded and Cassandra called out, “Yes, who is it?”

The door opened and Maggie stood there, framed in the light from the hallway. 

A backlight, Cassandra thought, liking the sound of the word.

“Come in, dear,” Cassandra said softly, staring at Maggie, trying to see if she could detect even the slightest change, the slightest difference in her daughter.

Maggie walked toward her mother’s hospital bed, pulling a rolling suitcase behind her. Jackson followed behind his wife, arms laden with a laptop, a knitting bag and a stack of books. Jackson deposited his burdens1 on the long credenza under the window. He turned and took the suitcase from Maggie and put it beside the other things on the credenza.

“Oh, children,” Cassandra said with a note of irony in her voice, “I didn’t mean to cause you so much trouble.”

Maggie walked over and sat on the edge of her mother’s bed, then leaned down to give her a peck on the forehead,  

“Ma, you could never be trouble. You are the best mother and mother-in-law in the world and Jackson and I would do anything for you.”

Jackson had come over to stand next to Maggie, and he said, “I agree 1000 percent!”

Cassandra looked closely at both of them, a half-smile on her lips. They seemed to be their usual selves and she began to relax, to let go of the tension that had plagued her since they'd gone to her house. She began to feel reassured that they'd done as she'd asked, no begged Jackson -- not read any of the mail or papers on her kitchen counter. She sighed, then took a deep, cleansing breath. 

Maggie stood up and patted her mother's shoulder. "I think it's time we all got some sleep. Jackson and I are going to go grab a few hours sleep at the loft."

"But what about Samson?" Cassandra asked, a touch of concern in her voice. When Maggie and Jackson first introduced Samson to her, Cassandra had fallen in love with him immediately, saying, "He's the dog I've always wanted."

Maggie patted her shoulder again and said, "Now, Ma, you know we always look out for our baby. He's having a sleepover with Harvey. You remember, our next door neighbor at Edelweiss. He's a retired bus driver and he and Samson are great pals."

"Of course," Cassandra answered. "I remember. He looks like that guy on that show."

"Yes," Jackson and Maggie said in unison, knowing exactly who Cassandra meant.

The three of them laughed together, and Maggie said, "I think we know each other's thoughts way too much."

They laughed again, then Maggie and Jackson said good-bye, promising to come back as soon as they'd had a few hours sleep.

Jackson and Maggie
Saturday, January 8, 2011 

After Midnight
After they dropped Cassandra's things in her hospital room, they drove the few blocks to their downtown loft apartment. With Samson as part of their family now, it wasn't as easy to spend the night in the city as it used to be. Harvey was a godsend, always willing to baby-sit Samson, but they didn't want to take advantage of him. 

"We'll miss our kids," Jackson said as they reached the loft apartment. "Samson will be fine with Harvey but Tinker is going to be pissed because we're not there to provide her requisite tuna snack." He reached out to take Maggie's hand as they walked into the building. She gave his hand a gentle squeeze but he could tell she was still devastated by what she'd learned about her father. 

Riding up in the elevator, Maggie said, " I think we did a good job of hiding from her the fact that we read the telegram. I don't think she suspects a thing. I'll have to work hard to keep from confronting Mom about this. But as soon as she's all well and safely back in her house, I intend to get to the bottom of this."

Jackson tried to hide a grin at the grim determination he heard in Maggie's voice. When she set her mind to something, she was absolutely indomitable. 

They each took quick showers and ended up climbing into bed at the same time. Jackson groaned inwardly when he saw what Maggie had brought to bed with her – her trusty iPad.

"Damn," he thought. "I should have known she'd want to read the Internet information about Richard Taylor Bundock. He tried to hide his sigh of concern, knowing that Maggie had to do what Maggie had to do. Instead of trying to go to sleep, he got out of bed to go get his laptop and bring it to bed with him.

Maggie smiled when she saw what he'd done and said, "What a couple of geeky nerds we are."

"But charming geeky nerds, you have to admit." Jackson said.

Both of them bowed their heads to begin their Internet searches. Jackson wished there were some way he could protect Maggie from the things she was about to read. Many of the articles were excruciatingly graphic in describing Bundock's crimes.

He heard a gasp from Maggie and looked over at the screen of her iPad to see what she'd found. As he'd feared, she'd arrived at the site that included explicit photos of Bundock's victims. Jackson wondered how someone had gotten access to what were obviously crime scene photos. He supposed when payment for photos was involved, there would always be people able to get their hands on something to sell. 

"Sweetheart," Jackson said, taking Maggie's hand. "That's the worst of what I saw. It's probably best to click past that one."

Maggie did so, finding a more level-headed newspaper account of Bundock's trial. Then she opened a feature article that a Boston reporter had done on Bundock on the occasion of his 10th anniversary in prison.

She read through it quickly, then went back for a more thorough reading. When she'd finished, she e-mailed the URL to Jackson. "Read this," Maggie said. "It's a fascinating article. I think this reporter really captured the essence of this evil man."

Jackson did the same as Maggie, first giving the article a fast read-through, then going back for a more in-depth read.

"Hmm," Jackson said. "Tom Mellen. The name of that reporter sounds vaguely familiar." Jackson did a quick Google search of the name, then said, "I thought so. He was in a couple of the classes I took at Mizzou." 

He read through some of the background information about Tom Mellen, then said, "He's no longer in Boston. He's at a Kansas City paper now."

"What are you thinking?" Maggie asked.

"Well, Kansas City is only about three hours away. If he's willing to meet with me, I could take a road trip to Kansas City. I'd like the chance to pick his brain about this man."

Maggie put the iPad on the bedside table and turned off the lamp. Jackson did a few more searches, then he too turned in for the night. They lay in each other's arms, almost too tired to fall asleep. 

Cassandra
Saturday, January 8, 2011 

Morning
Cassandra spent a restless, sleepless night. She was so relieved that Jackson and Maggie hadn't seen or read the telegram although she'd fully expected them to do so. Maggie would have been devastated to learn that her supposed dead father was an all too alive, although imprisoned serial killer.

Cassandra still couldn't believe all that had transpired 30 years ago. It had been an unreal, surreal time of her life, one that she never fully assimilated. Her decision to keep all this hidden from Maggie had been an easy one. What child should grow up knowing she was the offspring of a monster? They'd been fortunate to spend their lives away from anyone knowing their background. 

At first, Cassandra had found adjusting to her new identity difficult and off-putting. The one saving grace had been the fact that she was an orphan and had few relatives. She did regret leaving her friends but the chance to wipe Richard Taylor Bundock from her life had made up for that.

And over the years, she'd made new friends, people she loved and who loved her. All in all, after a disastrous start, her life had been a good one. She'd deliberately stayed away from dating or any involvement with men. After such a horrendous first choice of a partner, she felt she could never again trust her emotions. But she'd filled her life with Maggie and friends and her writing. The things she'd gone through had given her writing a depth she doubted she would have had without such unbelievable experiences.

She'd had a few scares where she thought she'd seen Richard Taylor coming towards her in a crowd but it had just been nerves. Both times it happened, she'd followed up with the Witsec program to make sure he was still incarcerated. And he had been. 

She lay there in the hospital bed, trying to get up enough courage to try opening her eyes. If she was still in that horrible, whirlwind of a dizziness state, she didn't know what she'd do. This had to be one of the worst things she'd ever gone through. She and Maggie had been fortunate enough to be blessed with raging good health. This was Cassandra's first time in a hospital other than when Maggie was born. And Maggie had never been hospitalized. 

Cassandra hoped that her daughter and son-in-law would be able to have a child. She knew the two of them had been going through test after test, and perhaps a miracle would happen one of these days.

Finally, she gathered her courage and opened her eyes just a slit. She thought it was possible that the vertigo had gone away. So she opened both eyes fully and was overjoyed to see that the world had stopped whirling around. It felt like the greatest gift in the world.

The first thing she saw was a clock on the wall opposite her bed. The hands were pointing to 6 a.m. she could hear rattling sounds out in the hallway and assumed it was the carts full of breakfast trays. She realized she was hungry and looked forward to breakfast, whatever it might be. Her last meal had been a bag of butter-soaked popcorn at the movie last night. 

As she lay there waiting for a nurse or nurse's aid to come in the room, her mind kept going back to the horror of Richard Taylor Bundock being on the loose. She knew with a certainty that was burned into her heart that his first action would be to find her. And she knew with certainty that he would find her. She'd always known he'd find her and take care of her. He blamed her for him getting caught, as well he should.

Richard Taylor Bundock had come into her life when she was 16 He was a high school science teacher in the Boston inner city schools where Cassandra was a student. At the time, he was 25, a handsome, charming young man with a charismatic personality. Cassandra thought he looked like a movie star, a younger, slimmer Rock Hudson. He had dark, curly hair that fell over his forehead and brilliant blue eyes that seemed to be looking only at you.

She had him for biology as a junior and fell madly, passionately in love with him. But she was such a timid soul that she never let anyone, especially Richard Taylor Bundock, know about her infatuation. In her senior year, she took advanced biology because Richard was teaching the course, even though she hated biology.

That year, Richard began to notice her, to pay particular attention to her, to call on her in class, to praise her for her papers and good test grades. Cassandra felt as thought she'd died and gone to heaven. He'd started inviting her to stop by his office after school and she'd eagerly done so. 

One day, he offered to drive her home. She hesitated because she didn't want him to know where she lived. She was a foster child in a poor as church mice family. The family lived in an abandoned warehouse in downtown Rivermont, and Cassandra was ashamed for anyone to know where she lived. The first time he offered, she refused. The next time, she had a plan. A few blocks from the school were several streets lined with elegant old mansions. She decided Mr. Bundock, as she thought of him, would never know any different if she told him she lived there. She could have him drop her off on a corner and he'd never know which house was supposedly hers.

After school one Friday, she stopped by his office to wish him a happy weekend, and he again offered her a ride. She hesitated, trying to get up her nerve to say yes. 

Bundock gave her a small smile and said, "It would give me great pleasure to give you a ride home. And please, don't worry. You'll be completely safe with me."

She agreed to that first ride home, and so began a whole new life for Cassandra. She decided to try her ploy with the fancy houses but Richard was way ahead of her. Rather than asking where she lived, he drove directly to her home.

She was flustered as he stopped in front of the abandoned warehouse where she and her foster family were living.

"How did you know where I live?" Cassandra asked in a timid voice. 

"I followed you home one day. Some boys had been hassling you outside the school and I wanted to make sure you arrived home safely."

From that day on, Richard drove her home from school every day. He told her they would have to keep their rides a secret because the school administration wouldn't understand and might think something untoward was going on.

Cassandra loved hearing Richard say the word untoward. She didn't think she'd ever before heard the word untoward spoken aloud. She was an omnivorous reader and had encountered the word in her reading but knew no one who used such words. But now she did.

Sometimes Richard took a long way home, driving into the Boston suburbs before finally dropping her a block away from the warehouse. He told her it would be better if her family also didn't know about the rides home.

Her favorite of the rides was when Richard stopped at a pocket park near the riverfront. When the weather was nice, they would walk along the path that wound through the park. When it was cold, they would stay in his car with the heater on, They talked about everything under the sun. Richard told her about the difficult life he'd had as a boy, growing up in the slums of New York City, on his own at the age of 16. He'd gotten a job at a coffee shop in the Wall Street area and had made friends with an older businessman who'd taken a liking to the enthusiastic young coffee server. 

The man was a childless widower and he took Richard under his wings. He paid for Richard to do his GED to get a high school diploma, then paid for him to enroll in the college courses at a community college. After two years there, Richard transferred to a small liberal arts college in upstate New York. He'd wanted to be a teacher and his mentor, Jason Bradley, had wholeheartedly embraced Richard's career choice.

What Bradley hadn't known was that his young protege was already a killer. Right after he left home, he'd had an encounter with a prostitute who worked the streets near the rundown boardinghouse where he'd found a room he could afford. He was too naive to realize that the young woman who was so nice to him and who took him back to her own room was a prostitute. He thought she'd found him attractive and wanted to sleep with him because of that. His previous sexual experience had consisted of some fumbling around in dark hallways with willing young girls.

After they'd had sex, the girl had told him that he owed her $20. He became furious and hit her across the face. She fought back but Richard outweighed her by 50 pounds, and she didn't stand a chance. He'd done his best to erase any evidence that he'd been in the girl's room and beat a hasty retreat out the back entrance of the rundown building she lived in.

He'd been amazed at the sense of exhilaration he felt at what he'd done. He felt powerful and in-charge, something he'd not felt before. For the next couple of days, he'd gone through the newspapers customers had discarded at the coffee shop, looking for a mention of the girl's murder but he never found anything. He assumed he'd either missed the news item or the death of a young street walker wasn't sufficiently important to make the newspaper.

He'd thought long and hard about what had happened to him. He'd never thought about taking a human life before but now it became an obsession with him. He'd loved that excitement and he wanted to feel it again. But he was self-protective enough to not want to risk getting caught. It seemed logical to him that if he preyed on the dregs of society he might have a better chance of getting away with murder, so to speak. 

He decided to avoid the streets around the boarding house where he lived. He'd find another spot, far away from his room and see what he could find there. 

His next kill was an older prostitute. When he'd approached her, he thought she was another young one but decided age didn't matter. All that mattered was that one moment she was alive and the next she was dead. 

Once he'd been befriended by Jason Bradley, Richard briefly considered abandoning his fascination with murdering prostitutes. He was enamored of the idea of getting an education and seeing if he could do something with his life. During the time he was attending the junior college, he stayed away from prostitutes and began dating fellow classmates. 

He knew he was a charmer and he went out of his way to cultivate that aspect of his personality. He knew he had the looks and the brains to do pretty much whatever he wanted. And with Jason Bradley's encouragement and financial support, he felt that success was inevitable.

When he started at the small liberal arts college, he was surprised to discover that he had a really strong desire to be a teacher. He couldn't figure out where that desire had come from but he went with it, embracing the field of education wholeheartedly. 

His mentor had embraced the idea also, and even went so far as to promise to help Richard find a teaching job when he graduated from college.

While he was in upstate New York, Richard continued to avoid prostitutes, dating a lot, but selecting the easier girls rather than the naïve, innocent ones. One of the girls had taunted him about the smallness of his penis, and he had to use every ounce of self-control he possessed to keep himself from strangling her.

Strangling and choking was his modus operandi. He relished the hands-on feel, the struggle of his victim, the rush he got from overpowering the women. After his first kill, he'd begun to do a lot of reading about serial killers, mostly library books. But he had purchased a few of his favorites and he read them over an over again. He didn't want anyone to accidentally see what he was reading so he kept them hidden in a steamer trunk that held various pieces of memorabilia. He'd created a fall bottom in the trunk and kept the books tucked out of sight there. Along with the books, he also kept small souvenirs of his victims – earrings, panties, pantyhose, hair clips. At first when he began collecting these souvenirs, he'd tried to think of a way to label them so that he wouldn't forget which victim they came from. He'd put tags on them with the victims' names but had eventually realized there was no need for identifiers. He could remember vivid details of each and every victim. So he'd gotten rid of the tags.

Following Richard's graduation from college, his mentor, Jason Bradley had been true to his word and found a job for Richard in the Boston school district at one of the most troubled inner city schools. Richard loved teaching biology. He loved the clear-cut, easily understood scientific facts. In college, he'd hated the theoretical courses like philosophy, psychology and political science. He preferred black and white answers, with no gray and no indecisiveness. 

He also relished all the dissection activities that took place in his classroom, except for the fainting girls part. He'd been teaching for several years when one of his students caught his eye, something that had never happened before. At first glance, she hadn't been anything spectacular. But there was something about her, an air of specialness. He'd begun paying special attention to her, but not in an obvious way that anyone would think creepy or inappropriate. She was shy and could barely meet his eyes when he called on her in class. 

He quickly came to realize that she had a crush on him and that tickled his fancy. He still didn't know why she was so special to him but chalked it up to chemistry or pheromones or some such. He handled the girl carefully. One of her attractions was her exotic name – Cassandra. Who was named Cassandra? Well, this girl was. Richard could see beyond her studied plainness to a deep below the surface beauty. He longed to get his hands on her, to transfer her into the beauty that she was.

He'd started asking her to stay after class for further discussions of topics that came up in class. Then she'd started stopping by his office after classes, always careful to leave the office door open. When he'd first offered to give her a ride home, she'd politely refused. But he continued to ask and she'd finally given it.

They'd walked out to his car in silence, not looking at each other. It was after 5 p.m. and the school and the parking lot were deserted. He knew where she lived and paid no attention when she began giving him directions. He realized she was trying to make him think she lived in one of the expensive homes a few blocks away from the school. He drove to the slummy neighborhood she lived in and stopped directly in front of the rindown warehouse she called home. She looked at him, and he could see her try to project puzzled surprise into her expression. 

"Cassandra," he said her name gently. "I know this is where you live. Your home address in on my class roster. It's nothing to be ashamed of. It doesn't have anything to do with who you are. And it certainly doesn't have anything to do with who're you're going to be."

She let his words flow over her, wanting to believe what he said, wanting to believe that her family's situation didn't impact who she was.

Head down, she'd whispered, "Thank you for saying that. Thank you for understanding. I didn't think anyone would."

"Oh, Cassandra, I want you to know how special you are, how special I think you are. You must know that by now. After two years, you certainly must know that. You are my most special student, and you must certainly know that also."

She tried to answer, tried to say something, anything, but the frog clogging her throat didn't allow her to say anything.

A group of boys walked past the car, then came back and stood trying to see inside. Cassandra panicked. She recognized some of the boys, part of a local gang that terrorized and bullied the neighborhood.

Without a word to Richard Bundock, Cassandra grabbed her book bag and flung open the car door. She raced around the front of the car and into the warehouse. Bundock started the engine and drove off, oblivious to the boys surrounding his car. They leapt out the way to avoid being hit by the car. As Richard drove off, he could hear them swearing at him and threatening revenge. But he knew they were all steam and no action.

After that first ride home, Richard drove Cassandra home everyday after school. In an unspoken agreement, they were discreet about their arrangement. Cassandra would leave school and walk one street over. Richard would drive by, stop and offer her a ride. It didn't take long for them to start going to a park on the outskirts of downtown and spend long hours there, at first just talking, then kissing, and finally, finally, making love. Richard of course thought of it as fucking but Cassandra considered it the holiest of holy lovemaking.

Richard was a gentle lover, interested in making Cassandra come each time. Her first time had been searingly painful and he'd held her close and gently entered her again. This time she'd clung to him but hadn't orgasmed. The next time, he'd spent an hour in foreplay, teasing and biting and touching and sucking until she was begging him to enter her. When he finally did penetrate her, she came immediately and was blown out of her mind by the all-consuming pleasure that coursed through her. She became insatiable, wanting sex every day and more than once. Richard was delighted in his creation and gladly accommodated her hunger for him.

Every time they were together, he took the time to carefully put on a rubber.   Then after one night of particularly vigorous lovemaking, Richard discovered that the rubber had broken. He told Cassandra the news but then to his amazement he said, "Let's get married. Even if you don't get pregnant, let's get married."

Cassandra didn't know what to say. Marrying Richard was the only thing in the world that she wanted but she'd never thought it could happen. Now here he was, offering her her life's desire. 

She was silent for a few moments, almost as if she were waiting for him to rescind his words. But instead he reinforced his marriage proposal.

Finally, Cassandra looked into his eyes and said, "Oh, Richard, there's nothing in the world I want more than to marry you. You've made me so happy."

Cassandra had turned eighteen months ago, before their affair began so she was of age to marry. She had no real family. She lived in the warehouse with a foster family who only took care of her for the money the state paid them.

Richard said they would get married secretly because he would lose his job if it became known he was involved with a student. He planned to find a teaching job in a different school district as soon as possible so that would work right into their plans. 

It has thrilled Cassandra to hear Richard talk about "their plans." She'd never known such soaring happiness, such sheer delight at merely being alive.

And Richard had made it all happen. The day after her graduation from high school, they'd been married by a justice of the peace two counties over from the city. Cassandra had told her foster family she was going to California with two of her friends from school and not to worry about her, she'd be fine.

Cassandra had loved Richard's tiny downtown apartment. He was a neat-freak and kept everything obsessively orderly. But to Cassandra, that was heaven. She was accustomed to living in disarray, with the clothes and other belongings of her foster family strewn every which way. To have order in her life was a dream come true. She herself had always managed to keep whatever corner she could call her own as neat as she could. To live in a place that was clean, that had a specific place for every belonging was heaven to her. 

The first few months of their marriage, Cassandra spent her days cleaning the apartment and cooking meals. Richard bought her an old used Singer sewing machine for $25, and she taught herself to sew the maternity tops and pants she needed. She made a bathrobe for Richard that he wore faithfully for years until it became threadbare. But even then he wouldn't get rid of it. He just hung it in the back of the closet. 

During the first summer of their marriage, Richard found a job in a nearby hardware store. He also applied for a teaching job in a small town a few hundred miles from Boston. The job would start at the end of August so one Saturday, they drove to the town and found another tiny apartment. It was another one-bedroom but it had an oversized alcove off the bedroom that they could use as a nursery.

Cassandra had never known such happiness. Never in her life had she felt as safe and loved as she did with Richard. They moved to the new town and the new apartment just before school started. Richard was busy with pre-school meetings and Cassandra too responsibility for unpacking their belongings. She was in her sixth month and had started to show in earnest. She worried that Richard would no longer find her attractive but told her constantly that she was more beautiful than ever to him.

She'd almost finished the unpacking when she came across a puzzling stash of women's jewelry. She'd been trying to heft a box containing Richard's winter boots onto the top shelf of the closet in their bedroom. Instead, the box had tumbled to the floor and the boots had flown out.  

She bent over to pick up the boots and felt a twinge in her abdomen. She straightened, waited a few moments, then bent down again. She lived in terror that something would happen to the baby. She wanted this child so much. It would be her chance to make up for her own deprived childhood. 

She put first the one boot and then the other in the box. She saw something else lying on the floor near where the boots had fallen, just under the bed. It looked like a bag of some kind. Once again she bent down and once again felt that twinge. This time she sat on the edge of the bed so that she only had to bend forward a bit to reach the bag. She picked it up and turned it over in her hands. It was made of some kind of chamois cloth, light brown and very soft to the touch. She remembered seeing one of her many foster fathers using a cloth made of a similar material when he cleaned the family car.

The bag had a leather drawstring that was pulled tightly closely. Cassandra hesitated, feeling as if she had no right to open the bag. But then her natural curiosity got the better of her and she slowly pulled the drawstring apart and opened the bag. Peering inside, she could see some shiny things. Turning sideways where she still perched on the edge of the bed, she carefully emptied the contents of the bag onto the bedspread. A jumble of what looked like women's jewelry spilled onto the bed. For a few moments, she sat there, still, staring at the jewelry. 

Then she reached out a tentative hand and picked up the nearest piece. It was a silver charm bracelet. It felt heavy in the palm of her hand and the thought crossed her mind that it might be sterling silver. She set it down, off to one side and picked up another piece, this time an earring with a sharp post. The earring sparkled and Cassandra held it up, thinking it might be a tiny diamond. That one she also set aside and took another piece in her hand. This was a spangly, sparkly bracelet, what she thought was called a tennis bracelet. There were two rows of matching stones, tightly held together with strands of silver. She started to set the bracelet into the pile of the things she'd already examined, then decided instead to slip it on her wrist. She turned her arm first one way, then another, admiring the shiny bracelet. Then she flushed at her audacity and quickly removed the bracelet and it joined the smaller of the two piles.

Slowly she went through each piece of jewelry, examining them closely as she took them from one pile and added them to the other.

Some of the pieces she tried on. The one that held the most fascination for her was the silver charm bracelet that jingled when she picked it up. She'd always wanted a charm bracelet but there had never been a way for her to have one. She slipped it on her wrist and fastened the catch. Then she shook her arm, delighting in the jingling sounds of the charms. She examined each charm, trying to figure out what each one might mean. There was a tiny ballerina doing en pointe. At her neck was a tiny diamond, as if she were wearing a necklace. The charm next to the dancer was a Bible and this one too had what looked like a diamond embedded in the cover. As she looked at each charm, Cassandra realized that each one had a diamond somewhere. Other charms included a space rocket, a fighter jet, and a bouquet of flowers. Four of the charms were silhouettes of heads, two boys and two girls. 

All her life, Cassandra had made up stories about things. Now, she wished she could make up a plausible story of innocence on Ricahrd’s part. Why on earth would he have such a seemingly random bur obviously valuable collection of women’s jewelry. Try as she might, she couldn’t come up with a story to tell herself. 

As a girl, she'd told the stories only to herself, afraid she'd be ridiculed if she shared them with anyone. For her 10th birthday, she'd received a spiral bound notebook from her foster parents and had started writing her stories on the lined paper inside the notebook. As she grew older, she continued to write down her stories but still never told anyone about her stories. 

When she got to junior high, and began writing papers for homework assignments, she was surprised at how much she enjoyed the writing. And the teachers praised her for her writing skills and awarded her the highest grades on the papers, sometimes even giving her an A+.

One of her junior high English teachers had encouraged her to think about studying English when she got to high school and then college. When Cassandra heard those words coming from the teacher's mouth, she felt as though she'd won the lottery. It meant so much to her for someone to encourage her to do something she loved doing. One day, she'd gathered up her courage and had shown her English teacher the notebook with the stories she'd written. The teacher had asked if she could borrow it for the evening so she could read the stories. Cassandra had hesitated momentarily, afraid of what the teacher might think of the stories. But then she decided to take a chance and had agreed that the teacher could take the notebook home with her.

After handing over the notebook, she'd gone back to home room, amazed at how bereft she felt without her ubiquitous notebook. She carried it with her everywhere and slept with it under her pillow. She thought that perhaps she'd gotten a bit obsessive about the notebook and figured this would be a good time to loosen her attachment to it. But still she spent a restless anxious night, willing it to be morning and time for school and the return of her notebook.

Now perched on the edge of the bed she and Richard shared, Cassandra could feel the pounding of her heart. She didn’t expect Richard home until late. That morning he’d announced that there was a school meeting that evening and wou;d be home late so she shouldn’t wait up for him.

Cassandra had wondered why there were so many school meetings lately. It seemed like Richard was out late one or two nights every week. She refused to let herself think that it might be anything but school meetings. Because of her difficult upbringing, Cassandra had developed a talent for not thinking about things she didn’t want to think about. It was a that she was making more use of these days.

Slowly, she gathered up the pile of jewelry and carefully placed it back into the chamois bag. For awhile, she sat clutching the bag tightly in both hands. She didn’t know what to do. Should she put it back into the boot from which it had fallen? Should she hide it among her own belongings? Should she ask Richard about it when he arrived home later that night? Should she confront him about it?

Finally, with a long sigh, she made her decision. She put the bag back into the toe of the right boot, then carefully put both boots back into the box, She pulled a step stool over to the closet and climbed onto to place the box back on the top closet shelf from which it had fallen. She wobbled a little on the step stool and felt a wave of dizziness wash over her. She quickly got down from the step stool and sat on the bed. 

Somehow, as she sat there trying to regain her equilibrium, she realized that life as she knew it had changed. Something was going on with Richard and she was scared to find out what it was. Their perfect life was threatened, was under siege.

Jackson and Maggie
Saturday Afternoon, January 8, 2011
“I'm not sure why you have to drive to Kansas City to talk to this reporter guy. Couldn't you just call him?” Maggie, trying to keep the sound of complaint from her statement. She and Jackson were sitting at the breakfast bar of their loft apartment, eating French toast and reading the morning paper, even though it was well past 2in the afternoon. 

Their almost all-night adventure had caused them to sleep in. After a couple of hours of sleep, Maggie had gotten up for a few minutes in order to call the hospital and check on her mother. She spoke with Cassandra, who assured her she was fine and that Maggie should go get some more sleep and not worry about her.

Jackson grinned at his wife and said, "So are you saying you'll miss me if I go to Kansas City?"

"Of course, I'll miss you," Maggie said. "That's why I want you to call the guy instead of going to see him."

"Actually, I already called him, while you were still snoring away."

"I do not snore! And that's beside the point. Why didn't you tell me you'd called him?" This time Maggie didn't try to hide the complaint in her voice.

Jackson reached out and took Maggie's hand in his. For a moment, he didn't say anything. He just looked at his wife with a smile on his lips.

"What?" Maggie said, but his time her tone was gentler.

"Sweetheart, I know how upset you and I don't blame you. This is a horrible thing to find out. I can't even imagine how you're feeling. I'd insist that you come to Kansas City with me but I know you'll want to stay here with your mom. I know that if Cassandra was okay, you'd be right there in the front seat of the car beside me." He leaned over and gave her a kiss on the lips, wrapping his arms around her. 

For a moment, they were silent, then Jackson leaned back in his chair and waited for Maggie to ask the questions he knew were coming.

When Maggie didn't immediately start questioning him about what he'd learned from Tom Mellen, he asked, "What are you waiting for? You must have a thousand questions about my phone call to Tom Mellen."

Maggie nodded slowly, then said, "I guess I'm afraid of what he said about -- about Richard Taylor Bundock." 

Jackson could tell that she'd started to call the man her father but had been unable to do so.

"Well, he pretty much repeated what he'd written in that article. But I guess the most interesting part was what he didn't put in the article. He told me that during the interview, he was completely confused by the man. He said Bundock came across as a personable, charismatic man. Mellen said the man, despite what he knew about him, charmed him. Mellen said he couldn't believe that this intelligent conversationalist could have committed all the murders he'd been found guilty of committing. He'd gone into the interview anticipating being thoroughly disgusted by Bundock and the opposite had happened."

Jackson paused for a moment to pour himself another cup of coffee, asking Maggie, "Do you want another cup?" She shook her head no, and Jackson continued his story.

"After the interview, Mellen arranged to talk with the prison warden. The warden confirmed what Mellen had just experienced, saying everyone who talked with Bundock, ended up not being able to believe that this charming man was a serial killer."

Jackson took a few sips of his coffee, then said, "It turns out that Mellen made quite a study of the man. He has scrapbooks full of news clippings and background material that he's agreed to share with me. That's the main reason I want to go there, to see what he's got. I got the impression that Mellen is interested in writing a book about the man – either fiction or true life crime. So it seems to make sense to me to go see him and get all the information and background that I can."

Maggie nodded slowly, then asked, "Did you tell Mellen that Bundock escaped from prison?"

Jackson shook his head. "No, that was confidential information your mother received and remember, we're not supposed to know about it."

"Right," Maggie said "So when does this trip of yours take place?"

Jackson hesitated, then said "That's sort of a problem, my dear."

"I don't like the sound of that," Maggie said, slowly. "What's going on?"

"Well, it turns out that Mellen is going on vacation Monday and will be gone for two weeks. The only time there is to see him is tonight and tomorrow. I'm going to drive to Kansas City this afternoon, meet with him tonight, then spend the night, and meet with him again tomorrow. I should be home sometime late Sunday evening."

At first Maggie didn't say anything. She gathered up her thoughts and put them in order, then said, "I know you're doing this for me and I appreciate it. I'm sorry I've been so grumpy about this. Please forget that I haven't been very nice to you."

Jackson stood up and pulled Maggie to her feet. He took her in his arms and gave her a big hug. "You're a sweetheart, Maggie-girl, and I couldn't ever be upset with you."

They stood there holding one another for a few minutes, then Maggie turned and headed toward the bedroom, saying "I'll pack your bag, sweetie." 

Jackson grinned and followed after her. "Would you like to say a proper good-bye to your traveling man? I have some time before I have to leave."

Maggie laughed and stopped walking and let Jackson catch up with her. Arm in arm, they went into the bedroom, shut the door and took care of the proper good-bye.

Cassandra
Saturday Afternoon, January 8, 2011

The doctor came in to see Cassandra during afternoon rounds. Dom Puricelli gave her a big smile and said, "Madame. Cassandra, I have excellent news for you. All of the test results are back, and everything looks good. I'm going to chalk this up to a traditional random episode of vertigo." He flipped through her chart and added, "You are an incredibly healthy woman." He paused, then smiled again.

"You were going to say for a woman of my age, weren't you?" Cassandra asked with a grin.

"Would I dare?" Dom said in a teasing voice. "Anyway, here's some literature on vertigo, including some preventive exercises for you to try." He handed a sheaf of papers to Cassandra. "You are being discharged this afternoon so you might want to call your family to come pick you up."

"Thank you, doctor. You can't imagine how happy that makes me. Not that I haven't enjoyed my stay here and your company, but I'm thrilled to be able to go home." She sat up straighter, then asked, "Is there anything I need to be concerned about?"

The doctor shook his head, then said, "No, this was just one of those situations that we have no explanation for. Chances are this will never happen to you again. I will say you might experience some fatigue for the next few days. That seems to be one of the side effects of vertigo. So just take it easy, and get plenty of rest."

He came over closer to the hospital bed, then said, "You may think it presumptuous of me, but I wonder if I might call you sometime. I'd like to get to know you better."

Cassandra felt a jolt of happiness shoot through her. She liked this man and was happy to see that he reciprocated her feelings. "That would be a most welcome call, Dr Puricelli."

The doctor smiled and said good-bye. Cassandra watched him leave the room and realized she had a huge grin on her face.

She started to reach for the bedside telephone, then saw that Dr. Puricelli had come back into the room. 

"I know that was unexpected, my asking if I could call you. I wanted to reassure you. I never do this with patients. But somehow I felt a connection with you, something that never happens." Once again, he moved toward the bed and said, "If it's all right with you, I'd like to tell you a bit about myself so that you don’t think I'm some kind of nut job."

Cassandra laughed out loud at those words. "Have a seat, Dr. Puricelli," she said, gesturing to the chair next to her hospital bed. 

He nodded and sat down. "I'm 57 years old and a widower. My wife died of a heart attack 10 years ago while she running a marathon in downtown Rivermont. I haven't remarried and haven't actually done much dating. I'm the head of the neurology department here at Memorial. I've been here for almost 20 years and plan to retire from here, but not for awhile. I love my work and the people I work with. I have two grown children, a son and a daughter. My son is a physician also, in a Florida hospital. My daughter has her MD but she's currently a stay-at-home mom, with my full approval. Her husband is a doctor here at Memorial so we're quite the medical dynasty." Dom paused to take a breath, and Cassandra chuckled.

"Well, that was quite the resume. Thank you very much. Actually, I really mean that. It makes me feel more welcoming about your potential phone call. Let me tell you about myself for the same reason."

Her face turned serious and Dom felt the change in her demeanor. 

"My story is a simple one. I'm a widow and have been for most of my daughter's life. My husband died when she was a baby. I've never remarried and haven't dated much either. I concentrated all my time and effort on Maggie, and that left no time for men. I'm a writer and I've had two of my mysteries published."

Dom interrupted, "You're not C. Collier, by any chance?"

"I most definitely am C. Collier," Cassandra answered. "Have you heard of me?"

"You won't believe this," Dr. Puricelli said slowly, "but you're one of my favorite mystery writers. I had no idea that C. Collier lived in Rivermont?"

Cassandra nodded and said, "That information doesn't appear anywhere. I've tried to keep my private life separate from my professional life. And from the shocked look on your face, I'd say I've succeeded fairly well with that."

Almost without thinking, Dom sat down on the visitor's chair next to Cassandra's hospital bed. She grinned eagerly at his enthusiasm and waited for him to continue the conversation.

"I came across the first one of your books that I read quite by accident. Several years ago, I'd gone on a skiing trip with my daughter and son-in-law to Lake Tahoe. The first day on the slopes, I twisted my ankle and couldn't ski. So I holed up in our ski lodge and yours was one of the books in the bookcase. I liked the title, No Way Out, because that accurately reflected my sentiments at the time. Well, I devoured that book in one sitting. You had me on the edge of my chair, anxious to turn each page and see what happened next. When I returned to civilization, I 

Googled you and got a list of your other books. I bought them from Amazon and so continued my wonderful love affair with C. Collier."

Cassandra blushed, then laughed at his word.

Dom continued, "Actually, I didn't know whether C. Collier was a man or a woman. Everything on your publisher's web site seemed designed to cloak your gender and anything else about you. Periodically, I've done additional web searches to see if I could learn any more about C. Collier but no luck. I will say that I signed up on your publisher's web site to be notified when your next book is coming out. Two months from now, if I remember correctly?"

"Yes, that's right. It's being published in March. You flatter me. I don't talk all that much to fans so I'm finding this quite enjoyable."

"Well, now that I have you as a captive audience, I want to hear about the next book," Dom said.

"I'll do you one better," Cassandra answered. She pointed to a green carryall next to the chair, and said, "If you'll; reach inside there, you'll find an advance copy of Winding Roads, my next book."

Dom turned in the chair and hefted the green carryall onto his lap. Digging inside, he brought out several books. He said a long, "Ahhh," when he found the one he was looking for.

"And I can really take it with me?" he asked, a note of disbelief in his voice.

"Better than that,'" Cassandra said with a grin. "Hand it to me and I'll autograph it and you can take it home and keep it for ever."

Dom pulled a fountain pen out of his white doctor's coat pocket and handed it and the book to Cassandra.

Cassandra took the book and the pen from Dom. She set the book of the rolling tray across the bed and began to write inside the front cover.

Cassandra took the book and the pen from Dom. She set the book of the rolling tray across the bed and began to write inside the front cover. She smiled over at him as she handed him the book. He took it and started reading her inscription, then laughed out loud.

"So, a quote from Casablanca, one of my favorite movies – 'This could be the start of a beautiful friendship.' Thank you for that." Just then, Dom's pager went off. He unclipped it and read the message, then turned to Cassandra and held out his hand. She took it in hers as he said, "Duty calls."

"Thank you so much for everything," Cassandra said. "And please, do give me a call. I would like to get to know you better."

Dom left and Cassandra reached for the phone on the bedside table. She punched in Maggie's cell number and waited through ring after ring till she got Maggie's voice mail.

"Hi, sweetie, it's Mamacita calling from Rivermont Memorial. Good news for me. Dr. Puricelli was just here, and he says I can go home if I can find someone to come get me. So that would be you. Please give me a call back when you receive this message." She gave Maggie the direct line to her hospital room, then hung up. 

Tentatively, she sat up, then swung her legs over the side of the bed. Time to see what her mobility was. Holding on to the bedside table, she slowly got her feet. So far so good, she thought. No dizziness and she felt fairly steady on her feet. Holding on to various pieces of furniture and then to the wall, she carefully made her way to the bathroom. For the past 36 hours or so, she'd had to depend on bedpans administered by the staff so going to the bathroom was quite a treat.

Just as she got to the bathroom door, the phone rang. She shook her head and said out loud, "Wouldn't you know!" She made her way back to the bedside table and picked up the receiver only to hear the dial tone. She stood there for a few moments, debating whether to wait for the phone to ring again or whether to try the bathroom. Deciding the bathroom had priority, she once again made her way back there. This time she managed to accomplish everything without the interruption of a ringing phone.

She was pleased at how steady she felt. She'd been worried that she might be a bit wobbly but that didn't seem to be the case. As she left the bathroom, the phone once again began to ring again, and this time Cassandra got there in time. 

"Hello?" she said, assuming it was Maggie but not wanting to take a chance on a smart-aleck greeting for fear that it might be someone else.

"Hi, Ma, I got your message. Sorry I didn't pick up. I was helping Jackson get ready for a road trip."

"Where's he going?" Cassandra asked. This was the first she'd heard about Jackson taking a road trip.

Maggie hesitated a moment before answering. "Oh, he's driving to Kansas City to meet with a reporter he knows there. Some story he wants to follow up on.

"Well, as I said in my voice mail, Dr. Puricelli is discharging me so if you could pretty please come pick me and take me home, that would be greatly appreciated."  

"Of course I'll come get you. Just give me a few minutes to say good-bye to Jackson and I'll be there." 

Maggie
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Maggie disconnected her mobile and went into the bedroom where Jackson was finishing up his packing. 

"So your Mom's ready to go home?" he asked. 

"Yep. Evidently the good Dr. Dominic Puricelli gave her a clean bill of health. You know, I think they're interested in one another. Maybe something will come of that." 

Jackson grunted and seemed to be ready to say something but he didn't. 

"What?" Maggie asked. 

"Nothing."

 "Yes, there's something. Tell me what it is."

 "Maggie, I know how much you love your Mom and how much she means to you, but I don't think now is an optimal time for you to do any matchmaking."

 It took Maggie a few moments to respond. "I guess you're right. Mom has enough on her plate. You know, I've got to get her to tell me the truth about my father. I've been thinking that I'm probably going to have to confess about reading the telegram. That's the only way I'll get her to talk about it. I don't think she has any intention of ever volunteering anything on her own.

 "I think you're right," Jackson agreed. He thought for a moment, then said, "I have an idea that might work. Instead of taking your Mom home or bringing her here, why don't the two of you go out to Edelweiss? You need to go rescue Samson anyway."

 This time it was Maggie's turn take a moment to think about what Jackson had said to her. As he waited for her to respond his suggestion, he decided she was going to dismiss it out of hand. So to his surprise, she said she agreed.

 "Sweetie, that's a really good idea. Mom loves Edelweiss and Samson, so this might be the perfect way to get her a mood to finally confide in me. And if it doesn't happen naturally, I'll force the issue."

 "Well, good luck with that. Okay, I'm all packed. Want to walk me out to the car?"

 "I wouldn't miss it. But first, Mr. Bell, Mrs. Bell would like a ravishing good-bye kiss from her handsome hubby.

 Jackson complied with Maggie's demand. A few minutes later, they were on the elevator on their way down to the parking garage under their downtown loft apartment. Maggie didn't like the underground parking garage so she always found a spot on a nearby surface parking lot. Jackson teased her about her antipathy to the garage but she ignored him, saying, "The underground garage reminds me of a dungeon, and I don't want any part of that."

Jackson had an overnight bag slung over one shoulder and his computer bag on the other shoulder. When they reached his car, he put the two bags in the backseat of the Land Rover, then turned to Maggie to give her one last hug.

Maggie stood watching him drive out of the garage, then went back up to the loft apartment to get her things for the trip back to Edelweiss.

Not knowing how long she’d be away from the loft , she quickly watered the plants and packed up the perishable food from the refrigerator into a cooler to take with her. 

Fifteen minutes later, she was at Rivermont Memorial. The parking lot was full, and she had to park on the street. She locked the car and went into the hospital and up the elevator to her mother’s room. She found Cassandra sitting on the edge of the bed, her belongings still packed as they had been when Jackson and Maggie delivered them.

Maggie went over to her mom and enveloped her in a hug. “Oh Mom, I’m so glad things are okay. I’ve been terribly worried about you.”

“Truth be told, sweetheart, I’ve been worried, too.  All my life, I’ve been blessed with such good help that this episode has thrown me for a loop. Now I just want things to get back to normal.”

“I second that! Now how do we spring you from this place?”

“The nurse said to call when I was ready. You know they have to take me down to the main entrance in a wheelchair.”

Maggie thought for a moment, then said “Here’s what I’ll do. While you call the nurse and get yourself downstairs, I’ll take your things out to my car and then pull it up to the hospital entrance.”

“Sounds like a plan to me,” Cassandra said with a lilt in her voice as she picked up the nurse call button.

Maggie leaned over and kissed her mother’s cheek and then picked up her mother’s things. As she started out the room, she turned to Cassandra and said, “I have a surprise for you. I’m taking you out to Edelweiss to stay until you back to the 100% mother I know and love.”

“That’s wonderful, dear! I’ll love that. But what about…” Cassandra’s voice trailed off.

Maggie laughed and said, “Mom, on our way, we’re stopping by your house to pick up Princess. She gets to come on our adventure, too. Of course, she won’t like having to share with Samson and Tinker.”

“No, that’s for sure,” Cassandra agreed. “Princess is accustomed to being queen of the castle.”

Just then, the floor nurse came in, accompanied by one of the aides pushing a wheelchair. Maggie left while the nurse was helping her mother into the wheelchair. It bothered Maggie no end to see her mother in any way sick or less than her usual strong, energetic self.

It took her longer than she’d expected to take her mother’s things to the car and pull it up in front of the hospital entrance. She put the car in park and left the engine running, then got out to help get her mother in the car. Finally, they were on their way to Cassandra’s small house, located on the outskirts of Rivermont. 

The house was the same one in which Maggie grew up. Cassandra had made it into a jewel box of a home and Maggie still felt completely at home there. When Maggie pulled into the driveway, both she and her mother laughed out loud. Princess was sitting imperiously in the front window, curtains draped around her, surveying her kingdom. 

Leaving the engine running against the cold January temperature, Maggie started to open the driver’s side door. Cassandra laid a hand on her daughter’s arm. Maggie looked questioningly at her mother and asked, “What?”

Cassandra hesitated a moment before answering. “Sweetie, if you remember, there’s something on my kitchen counter that I’d rather you not see. Could you please allow me to go in there and take care of it without you?”

Maggie wanted to protest, to tell her mother she already knew what it was, what the telegram said, the horrible truth it revealed. But she bit her tongue and just nodded in agreement. She intuitively felt that waiting until they were settled at Edelweiss would be more conducive to getting the whole truth from Cassandra.

Maggie said, “You go ahead and do what you have to do, Mom. I’ll wait a few minutes, and then I’ll come in to help you get Princess in her pet taxi.”

Cassandra gave Maggie a grateful look and got out of the car. Maggie watched her mother walk up the driveway and onto the cobblestone sidewalk. She was glad to see that Cassandra seemed steady on her feet, with no sign of dizziness or stumbling. 

While she waited, she called Jackson’s cell. He answered on the first ring, saying, “What’s up?”

“Hi, sweetie. We’re here at Mom’s house to pick up Princess. She asked me to wait in the car while she takes care of what she didn’t want us to see on the kitchen counter.”

“Hmmm,” was Jackson’s response.

“I know,” Maggie said. “I was tempted to spill the beans right here and now but managed to keep my mouth shut. I truly feel I’ll have much better chance of getting the whole story out of her at Edelweiss.”

“I agree,” Jackson said. “Well, keep me posted. I’m almost to Columbia, and I want to stop and get gas.:

“Talk to you soon,” Maggie said and hung up. 

In a few minutes, Maggie saw her Mom standing at the front glass storm door, motioning for her to come in. Maggie turned off the engine locked the door and pocketed the key.

Inside, she found her mother with Princess in her arms, a triumphant smile on her face. “I tricked her with treats. If you’ll please get the pet taxi out of the garage, we’ll be on our way.”

Maggie went through the kitchen on her way to the garage and saw that the counter had been swept clean of all papers, as she’d expected. In the garage, she saw that her mother’s Escape was in the garage and tried to remember how it had gotten there. She thought Jackson had said something about Paul Washington helping him get it from the theater parking lot back to Cassandra’s house. She must not have been paying much attention at some point. Turning to the task at hand, she located a large pet taxi on one of the storage shelves and took it back into the house.

In the living room, Maggie set the pet taxi down on the floor next to where Cassandra stood with Princess in her arms. Maggie opened the door of the pet taxi and helped her mother push and shove a reluctant Princess into what the cat evidently considered her dungeon from her resistance.

Back in Maggie's car, the women settled back for the hour's drive out to Edelweiss. Princess, safely ensconced in her pet taxi in the back seat, began a low wail that continued for the duration of the trip out to Maggie and Jackson's home in the woods.

"This is nice," Cassandra said. "It seems like it's been a long while since we had time to really talk"

Maggie reached out a hand and squeezed her Mom's arm. "I know," she said. "I'm looking forward to our slumber party."

Cassandra laughed and agreed, "Me, too."

"I'm not sure what if any food is out there so if it's okay with you, I'm going to stop at that wonderful little market on the outskirts of Edelweiss."

"I love that store," Cassandra said. "They have the most delicious, unusual things."

"We'll select all the things that Jackson doesn't like," Maggie with a grin. "We can even get a bottle of that sweet wine that drives him crazy."

"Get some soda too, and we'll have wine spritzers."

Maggie pulled into the parking lot of Fielding's, the specialty market that served the residents of Edelweiss and also the discerning shoppers in Rivermont who were willing to drive for an hour to find the delicacies that only Fielding's carried.

Maggie selected a shopping cart then gave it over to her mother. "You might like to hang on to this, Mom," she said. "You're doing wonderfully well, considering what you've just gone through. But you can lean on the cart and rest yourself a bit."

"Good idea, dear. Thanks."

The two women strolled leisurely up and down the aisles of the market, examining everything, in no particular hurry to finish their shopping. They settled on scallops for dinner, one of the dishes Jackson refused to even try, calling them 'slimy little fish monsters.'

By the time they reached the checkout lane, the cart was piled high with snacks and ice cream and Fielding's special carrot cake, more food than the two women could eat in a week.

Maggie shook her head and said ruefully, "I definitely think our eyes were bigger than our stomach." She turned to her mother and asked, "Do you remember saying that to me when I was a little girl?"

"I certainly do," Cassandra said. "And it was always true. You would order an ice cream cone with two scoops and then could barely eat one scoop.  I always had to finish things off for you. It's a miracle I don't weigh 300 pounds, considering all of your leftovers I put away over the years."

They bagged their groceries, a Fielding's custom, as the checker ran them through the scanner. Maggie gave a small sigh when the checker announced the amount of the bill. Before she could get out her credit card, Cassandra gave her debit card to the cashier and said, "My treat. You're providing the location for our slumber party. The least I can do is to provide the goodies."

Maggie let her mother pay and didn't fuss too much. Several years ago, Cassandra had tactfully let it be known to Maggie and Jackson that her writing was extremely lucrative and that she had more money than she could mindfully spend. Since then, she's taken her daughter and son-in-law on a couple of elaborate vacations .She had insisted on paying, telling them they were doing her a great favor by accompanying her. Unbeknownst to Jackson and Maggie, she'd also set up a trust for them, in hopes that one day they would have a child or children who could benefit from the trust.

The Bell home in Edelweiss was only a few minutes away from Fielding's. Maggie pulled into the entrance and stopped at the guard house. She lowered the driver's side window and greeted Stan, who'd been a guard at Edelweiss for as long as she could remember. Stan leaned in and said hello to Cassandra.

"Long time no see, Ms Collier. You're looking fit as a fiddle." Cassandra laughed and thanked Stan. He opened the electronic gate and Maggie drove through, waving to Stan as she raised her window.

"It’s amazing how he remembers everyone's names," Cassandra commented.

"I know," Maggie agreed. "He's got a job for life, mainly based on that skill. His memory is phenomenal and that's crucial to someone guarding a gated community."

Maggie drove along the winding asphalt road, enjoying the peace and serenity she always felt here. She and Jackson had splurged on buying a year-round home in the resort-like enclave. In addition to almost 100 yearr-round homes, Edelweiss also boasted more than 100 weekend A-frames, plus a long row of elegant condos.

Lakes were sprinkled throughout. Jackson and Maggie's home was on one of the smaller lakes at the far side of Edelweiss. Maggie pulled into the driveway of the story-and-a-half stone house and turned off the engine.

She leaned back in her seat and gave a deep sigh. "I love this place so much. I'm so glad we bought it, even though at the time it stretched us a bit. It was well worth every penny."

For a moment Cassandra didn't say anything, then, "You know, sweetie, I love this place also. I've been thinking that maybe I'd like to buy a place here also. Would you mind if I did that? I wouldn't intrude on your and Jackson's privacy."

"Oh, Mom, you could never intrude. And I'd love it if you lived out here also. Jackson's parents live here and I'm sure they'd welcome you as much as we would. We could have the whole family out here. I don't why you didn’t think of this sooner." The more Maggie talked about it, the more excited she got. "You know, we could go to the property office in the next day or so, whenever you feel up to it, and see what's available."

"Oh, Maggie, I'd love that. I've been afraid to broach the subject with you for fear you'd think I was intruding. What a dear, sweet, gracious daughter you are!"

Maggie grinned at her Mom and said, "Okay, that's enough mushy stuff. Let's get you and your things, especially your wailing cat, into the house. Then I'll go take Samson off Harvey's hands." 

Harvey was the Bells' next door neighbor, a retired gentleman who enjoyed having Samson visit and even spend the night.

Half an hour later, Cassandra and Princess were settled in the spare bedroom of Maggie's home. Cassandra told her daughter she was feeling tired and would lie down for a nap while Maggie went to retrieve Samson.

As soon as Maggie left, Cassandra sat down on the edge of the bed and got her cell phone out of her purse and also the telegram from Witsec. They had included a phone number for her to call, and she now punched in the number. It was late on a Saturday afternoon and she had little hope that anyone would pick up. She could hear the ringing of the phone and just when she was ready to hang up, to her surprise, a woman answered the phone giving the phone number as the only identification.

"Hello, yes? My name is Cassandra Collier and I received a telegram with this phone number in it to call for more information about the message I received in the telegram."

"Yes, ma'am. There should also have been an identification number included in the telegram."

Cassandra looked over the telegram again, found the number and recited it to the woman on the phone.

"Please hold while I access that record." The woman put her on hold and Cassandra suffered through a painfully extreme Muzak rendition of "Hello, Dolly."

Cassandra tapped her fingers on the bedside table in time to the music and was surprised when Princess leapt into her lap.

"Did you think I was calling you, sweetie?" she asked the cat, petting her with the hand that had been tapping. Princess was a beautiful Maine Coon-lookalike. She'd been a rescue kitten, and when Cassandra adopted her, she had no idea the cat would turn into such an elegant beauty.

Still holding the cell phone in her left hand and holding onto Princess with her right arm, Cassandra stood up and walked over to shut the guest bedroom door. She didn't want to chance Maggie walking in on her phone call to Witsec. At all costs, she had to keep this situation a secret from her daughter. She sat back down on the bed, still holding Princess in one arm and the cell phone at her ear.

Finally, the woman came back on the line. "Ms. Collier, I've located your record and I have a phone number for you to call to get an update on Richard Taylor Bundock's status. Do you have something to write the number down on?"

"Just a moment," Cassandra answered. She reached over for her handbag behind her on the bed and dug out her ubiquitous notepad. "Yes, I'm ready." The woman read the number to Cassandra who wrote it down, then read it back to the woman to check its accuracy. The woman said good-bye, and Cassandra hung up.

Then she called the new number. This time her call was answered on the first ring by a man with a deep gravelly voice, who also gave the phone number as the identifier.

"Hello, yes? My name is Cassandra Collier and I'm calling about a telegram I received about Richard Taylor Bundock."

Once again, at the request of the man on the phone, Cassandra gave him the identification number included in the telegram.

[okay – time to plot.] Cassandra talks to the Witsec agent assigned to her case. The woman says she had been about to contact Cassandra with additional info – the prison discovered that Bundock had somehow gotten access to the Internet. He'd erased all the history of whatever he'd been doing, including the searches, but their computer techs who'd confiscated the prison computer feared that Bundock may have located Cassandra.

Cassandra waited somewhat impatiently through another god-awful Muzak rendition of something she couldn't identify.

Finally, after what seemed to her an inordinately long wait, a woman came on the line, saying, "Ms. Collier?" in a soft Southern accent.

"Yes, this is Cassandra Collier," she said, trying to keep the irritation out of her voice but failing miserably, she was afraid. She found herself squeezing the phone so tight that her palms was sweating.

"Ms. Collier, we were about to try to contact you again. Something has come up that you need to be apprised of."

Cassandra felt a frisson of fear run through her body at the woman's words. Trying to keep her voice steady, she said, "Yes?"

"It seems that prior to his escape, Bundock was able to gain access to one of the prison computers. The warden had his technical people examine the computer but Bundock was able to erase most of the history of what he'd been doing. But they were able to turn up one search result, and we fear that it could lead him directly to you."

"Oh my God," Cassandra whispered, feeling the fear once again spreading through her body. 

The woman began speaking again, and Cassandra strained to make sense of the woman's words.

"I see from the notes in your file that you insisted on retaining your given name, rather than changing it as we told you to do."

Cassandra thought the woman's voice literally dripped with disapproval. She didn't say anything in her own defense, just waited silently until the woman began speaking again.

The woman sighed and evidently decided to ignore Cassandra's misstep as far as retaining her first name was concerned. "Well, anyway, it turns out that Bundock somehow was able to find your current location, based on your first name of Cassandra."

"Oh my God," Cassandra whispered again, feeling like a fool.

The woman cleared her throat, then spoke. "As I said, we had started trying to contact you so it's a good thing you contacted us. We were unable to reach you at your home phone. Is this your mobile number you're calling from?"

Cassandra murmured a low, "Yes, it is." She couldn't believe she'd put herself and Maggie in danger by insisting on continuing to use the name of Cassandra. It had been unbelievably stupid of her.

"I'll add this number to your record. Now, are you currently at your home address?"

"No, I'm not. I'm at my daughter's home."

"Please give me that address. We'll send a detail out to protect you immediately."

"No, you can't do that!"

Cassandra's reaction was immediate and forceful.

"Ma'am, you and your family are in danger. You need our protection." The woman's tone was decisive and forceful.

"You don't understand," Cassandra began.

The woman broke in. "It doesn't matter what I don't understand. Our job is to protect you at all costs. I've already dispatched a protection team to the address at which you're currently located. They will be there within the hour."

"But how do you know where I am? I didn't give you the address." Cassandra's voice was frantic.

"I traced your cell phone number and triangulated it to locate you," the woman answered in a matter-of-fact tone, as if such technology was an everyday occurrence.

"Please don't send anyone. My daughter doesn't know anything about this. I can't have her know."

"Ma'am, tell you daughter about this. She's in danger, as is anyone else at that location."

Cassandra hung up without responding. She had wanted to scream at the woman but thought better of it. The woman was only doing her job. And in fact, she was right. She was doing what Witsec required, what was best for the safety of Cassandra and her family.

Cassandra set Princess on the floor, then stood up and began to pace around Maggie's small second story guest bedroom. She only had moments to figure out what to do. She heard the slamming of car doors and went over to window that looked down on the front lawn. There in front of the house were two shiny black Suburbans. Two men in dark suits were striding purposefully toward the front door, To Cassandra's horror, at that moment Maggie appeared, pulling Samson on a leash across the middle of the lawn.

Cassandra could see Maggie approach the men and begin a conversation. Cassandra raced out of the bedroom and down the steep flight of stairs that led from the second story loft down into the open family room below. She hurried out the front door and into the midst of the two men and Maggie.

When Maggie saw her mother approach, she raised a hand toward the men and said, "Please, wait right here while I talk to my mother." She reached out and led Cassandra back inside the front door, dragging a reluctant Samson behind her, and shutting the door firmly behind. For good measure, she reached over and locked the door and twisted the deadbolt lock.

Cassandra started to speak, but Maggie once again held up her hand. "Don't even try, Mom. I know everything. I know what this is about."

"But how --"

Maggie interrupted. "Jackson and I read the telegram on your kitchen counter, of course. Did you really believe we wouldn't?" A wave of despair washed over Cassandra at the anger in Maggie's tone.

"All right, now it's time to go back out there and deal with those men. They said they're here to protect us and we're certainly going to let them do that."

As Maggie turned to open the front door, a voice behind her spoke. "I think not, daughter dear." The voice was one Maggie had never heard before and the tone was low, deliberate and precise.

Cassandra screamed and Maggie whirled around to see her mother being held captive by a stranger, a man Maggie had never seen before. But she knew who it was – Richard Taylor Bundock.

Maggie could feel rage rising in her and it took all the strength she could muster to keep her face blank. 

"Cassandra, dearest, if you scream again, I will twist your pretty neck." The swords were horrible but the voice again was low and pleasant.

Neither Maggie nor Cassandra responded or moved. They glanced at one another as if silently forming a pact to work together to get themselves out of this mess.

"Now, ladies, let me share what's going to happen. My plan is to ultimately end both of your lives, Cassandra in particular because of her long-ago betrayal of her beloved husband. But we're going to have some interesting family times before your demise."

Maggie could feel the bile rise up in her throat and it was all she could to keep from striking out at this horrible man. It struck terror in her heart to realize she shared DNA with him.

Again, neither woman spoke or moved. Both of them jumped when Samson gave a loud bark, then started nosing his snout into Bundock's leg. The man looked down at the dog and holding onto Cassandra with one arm, pointed the pistol at Samson's head. Maggie whimpered and said, "No, please no."

Samson, as if intuitively understanding that he needed to get out of the way, slinked down the hallway and turned into Jackson and Maggie’s home office.

Bundock looked at her then said, "Well, we'll see. Here's the plan I've made after scoping out your place. We're going to get into the vehicle in the garage and drive out of here, right past those men out there in front. Daughter, you will do the driving. I will sit in the back seat with your mother to make sure that you do exactly what I tell you to do."

Bundock loosened his grip on Cassandra and said, "Are we now all in agreement?" The women nodded their heads and murmured yes.

Maggie led the way, taking deep, slow breaths to keep herself from erupting into a rage and attacking this man. Her mother was close behind her, a hand outreached and touching Maggie’s back. Bundock brought up the rear, pressing the barrel of the gun hard against Cassandra’s back.

Maggie turned right into the open kitchen and family room area. A door on the far wall led into the two-car attached garage. Maggie walked purposefully toward the door, trying desperately to think of how they could get out of here. She flung open the door and was shocked to see a black panel van in the space that her car or Jackson’s usually occupied. The van must be how Bundock got here.  

Maggie walked down the two steps leading into the garage, then turned and held out a hand to her Mom. Cassandra took Maggie’s hand and mother and daughter pulled in close to one another. Maggie whispered in Cassandra’s ear a barely audible, “We’ll get out of this.”

Bundock grunted but Maggie couldn’t tell whether he’d heard her whispered reassurance to her mother. He shoved against Cassandra, pushing her toward the van. He opened the side door and said a brisk, “Inside, Cassandra, dear.”

Maggie helped her mother up the high step into the van. Inside, Cassandra sat down on the bench seat and slid over to the far side of the an. Bundock climbed inside and sat down next to Cassandra, saying, "Daughter, get in the driver ‘s seat. The keys are in the ignition. Use the opener there on the visor to open the garage door. Once you have the engine started and the garage door open, drive out of here as quickly as you can, no matter what those yahoos out there do. Turn to your right and continue on this road till you reach the back entrance. Crash through the gate. I already removed the lock and set it ajar so it should be a snap.”

Heart pounding and feeling short of breath, Maggie did as she was told. As she started the van, she felt herself frantically thinking about what she could do to get them out of this predicament but her mind was blank.

As she drove the van out of the garage and onto the road Maggie turned her head toward the house to see what the Witsec agents were doing. The two men were still standing on the sidewalk, looking at the front door as if expecting the women to emerge. 

Evidently hearing the sounds of the garage door opening and the engine of the van, the men turned toward the garage and saw the van backing out of the garage. Maggie could hear the faint sound of the men shouting as they ran toward the van. But by the time they reached the driveway, Maggie was already speeding down the road. 

 “There’s a set of handcuffs attached to the arm rest there, Cassandra," Bundock said, "Please lock one cuff around your wrist." His voice was low and pleasant, and Maggie felt a chill at its matter-of-factness. She knew this man would have no compunction about killing her mother and her. It made her sick to her stomach to think that this man was her father. 

Maggie hoped to meet other vehicles on the road but Edelweiss was surprisingly deserted. It was dusk and the streetlights had come on. Maggie fumbled around on the dashboard looking for the control to turn on the headlights. She finally found it and switched on the lights, turning them to bright, in hopes of attracting someone's attention. 

Within minutes Maggie reached the back gate of Edelweiss. It was at the end of a wooded road n a little-used part of the community. Meant only for emergency purposes, no one ever used the gate. Maggie hesitated as she reached the gate, not wanting to crash through as Bundock had directed her to do. 

"Just drive right through," the man spoke from the back seat. 

Maggie took a deep breath and drove the van into the gate. The impact threw her back in the seat and she grabbed the steering wheel harder for support.

"Just stay on this road for a few miles. We're going deeper into the woods to an area where there's a quarry and a series of caves."

Bundock's words washed over Maggie. She wasn't familiar with an area of caves and wondered how he'd found out about it. He seemed to an extremely resourceful person. She'd wondered how he'd managed to escape from prison. Now she wondered how he'd managed to get to Rivermont from the East Coast, how he'd gotten this van. Her natural curiosity tempted her to ask him how he'd done it but her disgust with the man kept her from asking any questions.

"Are you all right back there, Mom?" Maggie turned her head slightly to speak to her mother.

"Yes, dear," came Cassandra's reassuring voice.

Maggie felt an overwhelming urge come over her to hurt the man who was holding them captive. It was all she could do to keep from flinging herself at him, sitting so smugly there in the back seat.

To her surprise, she heard her mother begin to speak to Bundock in an even, pleasant voice. What was she up to? Maggie had to strain to hear her mother's words.

"Well, Richard, it's been quite some time. Over 30 years, to be precise. I never thought I'd see you again."

"Ah, Cassandra, my Cassandra. You know, I never in a million years would have thought you would betray me. But betray me you did. And now, unfortunately, you're going to have to pay the price for that betrayal."
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